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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET (“GEM”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF 
HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a higher investment 
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be 
aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only 
after due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it 
is a market more suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may 
be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock 
Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for 
the contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any 
liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of 
this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Echo International Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”) 
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing 
the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving 
information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the 
best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material 
respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any 
statement herein or this report misleading.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of the Directors (the “Board”) of Echo International Holdings Group Limited (the 
“Company”), I am pleased to present the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the 
“Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2017.

In 2016, the Group upgraded a new product, the Freefly VR Beyond, which further expanded the Group’s product 
line. Freefly VR Beyond is a mobile virtual reality headset for iPhone and most modern Android smartphones, which is 
upgraded to 1.5 version and is cost effective. It better tracks 360 degrees head movements and projects 3D visuals 
onto the screen, making users feel like he/she is in a virtual world. The Freefly VR Beyond features dual crossfire 
control with CrossfireTM triggers. Freefly VR Beyond users can control the experiences with the dual crossfire trigger 
system, and no longer has to take off the headset to do so. There is also no need for external game pads with dual 
capacities triggers.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
The impact of the fluctuation of raw material prices and the rise of the statutory minimum wages in the PRC resulted 
in the financial year ended 31 March 2017 being a difficult and challenging one for the Group’s manufacturing 
business in China. The factories in China faced escalating manufacturing costs and keen competition both 
domestically and from overseas. As a result, the business of the Group was adversely affected for the financial year 
ended 31 March 2017.

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2017 was approximately HK$41.66 million (year ended 31 March 
2016: approximately HK$58.35 million), representing approximately 28.60% decrease as compared with last year. 
The Group’s net loss for the year ended 31 March 2017 recorded approximately HK$13.99 million (year ended 31 
March 2016: net loss of approximately HK$13.74 million), representing approximately 1.85% increase as compared 
with last year. The gross profit margin increased from approximately 19.43% last year to approximately 26.45% for 
the year ended 31 March 2017.

PROSPECTS
Looking forward, the Group will focus on the business of low risk and higher gross margin with relatively lower 
inventory level. The Group expects that the business operation for the coming years will be more cost effective with 
reducing working capital requirement and more in-depth management concentration. Accordingly, the Group could 
better capture the opportunity of growth.

The Board is highly alert to any changes in the present uncertain global economy, and remains confident on and 
committed to the continuation of our mission to maintain our leading position in the market, through dedication, 
innovation and expansion. The Group will strictly keep the risks under control, have access to more market resources 
and further improve its profitability, which will in turn bring more return for its shareholders.

APPRECIATION
Finally, I wish to extend, on behalf of the Board, my gratitude to all shareholders and business partners for their trust 
and support to us, and express my gratitude to the management and staff for their dedicated efforts and contribution.

Echo International Holdings Group Limited

Lo, Yan Yee
Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 June 2017
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BUSINESS REVIEW
Revenue for the year ended 31 March 2017 was approximately HK$41.66 million, representing a decrease of 
approximately 28.60% when compared with last year. Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 
31 March 2017 was approximately HK$13.99 million whilst the loss attributable to owners of the Company last year 
was approximately HK$13.74 million.

Notwithstanding the challenging market conditions encountered during the year, the Group continues to provide 
electronics products and subcontracting services on PCB assemblies and manufacturing of electronic products to 
customers in its principal markets, i.e. the U.S.A. and the European countries including Belgium, Bulgaria, Denmark, 
Estonia, Finland, Germany, Italy, Poland, Portugal, Russia, Slovakia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland and United Kingdom.

In view of the challenging market conditions as mentioned above, while the Group will continue to focus on its core 
business of the sales of electronic products, it will explore new business opportunities with an aim of broadening its 
source of income and maximising profit and return for the Group and the Shareholders of the Company in the long 
run. The Group will also endeavour to increase its market share and attract new customers to enlarge its client base 
through conducting more promotional and marketing activities and designing and developing new electronic 
products.

Sales of Electronic Products
Revenue from this segment during the year ended 31 March 2017 was approximately HK$41.05 million, representing 
a decrease of approximately 29.20% when compared with last year. Decrease in sales of electronics products was 
mainly due to the decrease in sales of control board and fire alarm.

Subcontracting Income
Revenue from this segment during the year ended 31 March 2017 was approximately HK$0.60 million, representing 
an increase of approximately 66.85% when compared with last year. The increase was mainly due to increase in 
orders from providing subcontracting services in the PRC.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
The Group recorded a loss of approximately HK$13.99 million for the financial year ended 31 March 2017 as 
compared with the loss of approximately HK$13.74 million for the financial year ended 31 March 2016. The increase 
in the loss is mainly due to the recognition of expense in relation to the increase in debenture interest and rental 
expenses.

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2017 was approximately HK$41.66 million (approximately 
HK$58.35 million for last year), representing a decrease of approximately 28.60% when compared with last year. 
Such decrease was mainly due to the decrease in the revenue from indent trading of electronic products by 82.74% 
when compared with last year.

Moreover, the revenue attributable to the top five customers for the year ended 31 March 2017 was approximately 
HK$27.91 million, which decreased from approximately HK$40.26 million for the year ended 31 March 2016, 
representing a decrease of approximately 30.68%. The revenue attributable to the second largest customer for the 
year ended 31 March 2017 was approximately HK$5.17 million, which decreased from approximately HK$11.41 
million for the year ended 31 March 2016, representing a decrease of approximately 54.69%.
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The second largest customer mainly ordered Freefly VR and its orders attributable to the purchase of Freefly VR during 
the year ended 31 March 2017 was approximately HK$5.17 million, representing an increase of approximately 
122.84% when compared with the figure in last year (i.e. approximately HK$2.32 million). Such increase in the 
purchases of Freefly VR was mainly due to the reason that such customer is satisfied with our quality of products and 
after-sales service, with Freefly VR upgraded to Freefly VR Beyond.

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2017, some factory fixed costs and indirect costs, such as salaries and rents, 
cannot be reduced at the same time. Therefore, the production cost attributable to each product manufactured by 
the Group increased.

The overall gross profit margin of the Group increased from approximately 19.43% for the year ended 31 March 
2016 to approximately 26.45% for the year ended 31 March 2017 primarily due to the increase of purchase orders in 
the higher margin products, namely charger board and security alarm.

Selling and distribution expense for the year ended 31 March 2017 amounted to approximately HK$1.60 million 
(approximately HK$1.83 million for the year ended 31 March 2016), representing a decrease of approximately 
12.60%. Such decrease was mainly due to the decrease of commission paid amounting to HK$0.36 million for the 
year ended 31 March 2017 (approximately HK$0.66 million for the year ended 31 March 2016).

Administrative and other expenses for the year ended 31 March 2017 amounted to approximately HK$23.13 million 
(approximately HK$23.49 million for the year ended 31 March 2016), representing a decrease of approximately 
1.55%. Such decrease was mainly due to the decrease in the share options issued under the Pre-IPO Share Option 
Scheme (as defined hereunder) of approximately HK$1.03 million for the year ended 31 March 2017 (approximately 
HK$1.93 million for the year ended 31 March 2016), which is partially offset by the recognisation of increase in rental 
expenses by approximately HK$0.30 million.

Loss attributable to the owners of the Company amounted to approximately HK$13.99 million for the year ended 31 
March 2017 (approximately HK$13.74 million for the year ended 31 March 2016). Loss per share attributable to 
owners of the Company was approximately HK1.7 cents for the year ended 31 March 2017 (approximately HK1.7 
cents for the year ended 31 March 2016).

To cope with the loss for the financial year ended 31 March 2017, the Board intends to develop on its recurring 
business in providing EMS to international customers while targeting further expansion in its established market, 
particularly to explore the EMS for consumer electronic products in the PRC market where the Directors consider to 
have a promising potential. However, the European countries and the United States will still be the principal markets 
of the Group in the near future.

The Group’s strategies are to increase its market share and to develop new customers to enlarge its client base 
through increasing its promotional, marketing activities and new products. The Group is going to launch two to three 
new, Freefly VR and fishing related products to the market in 2017 and the Group will attend and participate in more 
exhibitions and trade fairs in Hong Kong, the PRC and overseas to promote EMS and buzzer, and to attract potential 
customers.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure
The Group continues to adopt a prudent financial management, funding and treasury policy and has a healthy 
financial position.
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As at 31 March 2017, the Group had net current assets of approximately HK$12.11 million (2016: approximately 
HK$25.92 million) including cash and bank balances of approximately HK$4.62 million (2016: approximately HK$9.72 
million) and pledged time deposits of approximately HK$2.01 million (2016: approximately HK$2.00 million).

The Group’s equity capital and borrowings have been applied to fund its working capital and other operational needs. 
The Group’s current ratio as at 31 March 2017 was 1.75 (2016: 2.53).

On 11 June 2015, the Board proposes that each of the existing issued and unissued shares of HK$0.01 each in the 
share capital of the Company be subdivided into four subdivided shares of HK$0.0025 each (the “Share 
Subdivision”). The Share Subdivision took effect from 15 July 2015.

Save as disclosed above, there has been no change in the capital structure of the Group during the year ended 31 
March 2017 up to the date of this report. The capital of the Group mainly comprises ordinary shares and capital 
reserves.

Significant Investment
The Group did not have any significant investment as at 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2017.

Dividend
The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2017 (2016: Nil).

Contingent liabilities
The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2016 and 2017.

Charges over assets
The Group had pledged approximately HK$2.01 million time deposits on Industrial and Commercial Bank of China 
(Asia) Limited as at 31 March 2017 (2016: HK$2.00 million).

Capital commitment
The Group did not have any significant capital commitments as at 31 March 2016 and 2017.

Foreign Currency Exposure
As at 31 March 2017, the Directors considered the Group’s foreign exchange risk to be insignificant. During the year 
ended 31 March 2017, the Group did not use any financial instruments for hedging purposes.

Employees and Emolument Policy
As at 31 March 2017, the Group employed a total of 172 employees (2016: 189 employees) based in Hong Kong and 
the PRC. Total staff costs, including Directors’ emoluments, amounted to approximately HK$18.10 million for the year 
ended 31 March 2017 (2016: HK$19.50 million).

The Group reviews the emoluments of its directors and staff based on the qualification, experience, performance and 
the market rates so as to maintain the remunerations of its directors and staff at a competitive level.
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IPO PROCEEDS AND USE OF THE IPO PROCEEDS
The Company received IPO net proceeds of approximately HK$25.12 million (the “Proceeds”).

The details of the utilisation of the Proceeds during the period from 13 August 2015 up to 31 March 2017 and as at 
12 May 2017, the change in use of proceeds announcement are as follows:

Intended use disclosed 
in the Announcement

As at 
13 August 

2015 
New allocation 

of the 
unutilised 
Proceeds

During the  period from 
13 August 2015 to 

31 March 2016 As at 30 September 2016

During the period from 
1 October 2016 to 

31 March 2017

Revised 
reallocation 

of net 
Proceeds

The remaining 
balance of 

allocation of 
net Proceeds 
after revised 

allocation 
as at 

12 May 2017
HK$ million 

(approximately)

HK$ million 

(approximately)

HK$ million 

(approximately)

HK$ million 

(approximately)

HK$ million 

(approximately)

HK$ million 

(approximately)

HK$ million 

(approximately)

Expansion and upgrade of 

 the production facilities – – – – – – – – –

Setting up production facilities 

 for plastic parts 1.00 – 1.00 – 1.00 – 1.00 – –

Strengthening the Group’s 

 position in its established 

 markets and expanding 

 its customer base 2.94 0.06 2.88 0.05 2.83 0.04 2.79 2.49 2.49

Repayment of bank overdraft 10.00 10.00 – – – – – – –

Working capital and funding 

 for other general 

 corporate purposes 5.00 5.00 – – – – – 1.30 1.30
         

Total 18.94 15.06 3.88 0.05 3.83 0.04 3.79 3.79 3.79 
         

As at 31 March 2017 and 12 May 2017, the Company utilised the Proceeds in the sum of approximately HK$21.33 
million and the unutilised Proceeds amounted to approximately HK$3.79 million.

During the period from 1 April 2016 up to 31 March 2017, the Company only applied a total of approximately 
HK$0.09 million out of the Proceeds to strengthen the Group’s position in its established markets and expand its 
customer base.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company published on 12 May 2017, the Group’s management does not 
anticipate any substantial increase in purchase orders from its customers for the manufacture and trading of its 
electronics products and will not expect the demand for the Group’s electronics products to exceed the Group’s 
current level of productivity in the coming year(s). Therefore, the Board has decided to dispense with its plans for 
setting up production facilities for plastic parts and relocate the relevant funding to other uses.
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In this respect, as the current lease of the existing factory building wherein the Group conducts its production is due 
to expire on 30 June 2017, the Group will relocate its production facilities and plants to a new factory premises with a 
lower monthly rental. The relocation of the Group’s production facilities and plants to the new factory premises 
requires expenditure. Hence, the Group has reallocated the amount of HK$1 million from “Setting up production 
facilities for plastic parts” and the amount of HK$0.3 million from “Strengthening the Group’s position in its 
established markets and expanding its customer base” to “Working capital and funding for other general corporate 
purposes”, whereby an amount of HK$0.8 million will be used for the relocation of the Group’s production facilities 
and plants to the new factory premises, an amount of HK$0.3 million will be used for the refurbishment of 
accommodation, and an amount of HK$0.2 million will be used for rental for surface mounting technology facility.

The Company decided to change the intended use of unutilised Proceeds as follows:

New intended use

Original allocation 
of the unutilised 

Proceeds

New allocation 
of the unutilised 

Proceeds
HK$ million HK$ million

(approximately) (approximately)

Setting up production facilities for plastic parts 1.00 –
Strengthening the Group’s position in its established markets 
 and expanding its customer base 2.79 2.49
Working capital and funding for other general corporate purposes – 1.30

  

Total 3.79 3.79 
  

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board is responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group. The scope of the 
review is determined and recommended by the Audit Committee and approved by the Board annually. The review 
covers:

(1) all material controls, including but not limited to financial, operational and compliance controls;

(2) risks management functions; and

(3) the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff in connection with the accounting and financial 
reporting function of the Group and their training programmes and relevant budget.

The Company has engaged the Independent Internal Control Consultant to review and improve the effectiveness of 
the Group’s internal control system. The Internal Control Consultant has issued an internal control review report to 
the Company, which has identified a number of internal control issues and deficiencies of the Group. The Board has 
reviewed the said report and conducted a review of the Group’s internal control system, and it has taken and/or will 
take necessary actions and steps to address the internal control issues and deficiencies found in the internal control 
review.
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The Audit Committee is satisfied with the Group’s internal control system. The system is designed in consideration of 
the nature of business and the organisation structure. The system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk 
of failure in operational system and to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement 
or loss. The system is designed further to safeguard the Group’s assets, maintain appropriate accounting records and 
financial reporting, achieve efficiency of operations and ensure compliance with the GEM Listing Rules and all other 
applicable laws and regulations.

The Group will continue to engage external independent professionals to review its internal control system and further 
enhance its internal control as appropriate.

There is currently no internal audit function within the Group. The Board has reviewed the need for an internal audit 
function and is of the view that in light of the size, nature and complexity of the business of the Group, it would be 
more cost effective to appoint external independent professionals to perform internal audit functions for the Group as 
the need arises. Nevertheless, the Board will continue to review the need for an internal audit function annually.

Set out below are (i) the major deficiencies identified by the Internal Control Consultant and the Board; and (ii) the 
Company’s actions.

Major deficiencies Company’s actions

No clear and explicit guideline and policy of the 
ongoing assessment and monitoring of customers’ 
background and creditability. Continuous credit 
reviews are needed under the new requirement of 
“expected credit loss” model of the new HKFRS 9 to 
be effective from the accounting period commencing 
from 1st January 2018, as well as to support the 
decision of pricing and determination and review of 
credit term.

The Company wi l l  implement  a  new cred i t  r i sk 
management policy to categorise their customers into 3 
groups namely A, B and C based on the historical 
repayment history annually.

No formal system of control for the Group to assess 
whether the existing or potential customers are related 
parties or companies controlled by related parties 
under Hong Kong Accounting Standard (“HKAS”) No. 
24 (Revised) ”Related Party Disclosures” or the 
“Connected parties” as defined in the GEM Board 
Listing Rules.

The Company will perform “Company search” for all new 
Hong Kong based customers and make necessary enquires 
to the board of directors whether there is any related party 
relationship existed during the “New clients’ acceptance 
procedure”.

The Company has guideline that reallocates the 
inventories that are stored for over 4 years from the 
date of purchase to the obsolete inventory. However, 
as per the staff in PRC factory, obsolete inventories are 
still being used if some parts of raw materials are 
needed.

The Company has existing policy to ascertain the list of 
obsoleted inventories around the year end and to compare 
the list of obsoleted inventories for the current year with 
the previous year which are sufficient to determine an 
accurate and updated list of obsoleted inventories for 
control purpose.

After the review of the Group’s internal control system, the Directors are of the view that the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control system has been improved.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Lo Yan Yee (勞炘儀), aged 65, is the chairman of the Board as well as the factory general manager of the 
Group. Mr. Lo Yan Yee was appointed as an executive Director on 27 September 2013. He is the founder of the 
Group and has approximately 39 years of experience in the electronics industry of which he has spent over 26 years in 
managing his own business. He is responsible for managing and supervising the production teams and engineering 
teams in the Group’s factory operation to ensure that all the environmental, quality, cost, delivery, budget and 
administration objectives are well achieved. Mr. Lo Yan Yee is also responsible for providing training to the staffs in 
the factory to enhance their effectiveness and knowledge so as to maximise production efficiency and utilise the 
labour force effectively. Mr. Lo Yan Yee commenced the work in the electronics industry in 1978, and prior to 
establishing Echo Electronics Co (“Echo Co”), a partnership formed in Hong Kong focusing on electronics 
manufacturing services, in 1989, he worked in the production department in various electronics companies in Hong 
Kong and acquired extensive experience in production and management. Mr. Lo Yan Yee finished Form One in 1966. 
Mr. Lo Yan Yee is the spouse of Ms. Cheng Yeuk Hung and the father of Mr. Lo Ding To.

Ms. Cheng Yeuk Hung (鄭若雄), aged 60, is an executive Director and the chief operation officer of the Group. Ms. 
Cheng was appointed as an executive Director on 21 December 2010. She is the founder of the Company and has 
approximately 38 years of experience in the electronics industry of which she has spent over 26 years in managing her 
own business. She principally oversees the operation of the Hong Kong office. She also regularly communicates with 
the senior staffs in the factory as well as the suppliers of the Group to understand the trend of procurement. She is 
responsible for resource allocation in relation to the customers in different market segments. She is also responsible 
for product pricing management, marketing and business development to manage the profitability of each product 
manufactured by the Group. Prior to establishing Echo Co in 1989, she had worked in EDAX Industrial Company 
Limited from 1979 to 1988 as an operation manager whereby she became skilled at business promotion, procurement 
of raw materials, and resource management in the electronics industry. She finished her secondary education in 1975. 
Ms. Cheng is the spouse of Mr. Lo Yan Yee, the sister of Mr. Cheng Kwing Sang, Raymond and the mother of Mr. Lo 
Ding To.

Mr. Lo Ding To (勞碇淘), aged 30, was appointed as an executive Director on 27 September 2013. Mr. Lo Ding To, a 
son of Mr. Lo Yan Yee and Ms. Cheng Yeuk Hung, has had ample opportunity and is able to gain first hand 
knowledge and insight into the management and operation of the Group ever since his childhood through observing 
how the Group has been and is managed under his parents. While learning from his parents the skill and technique of 
managing and operating the Group’s business operation, he also enjoys the benefit of their guidance and advice. 
Hence, even before Mr. Lo Ding To joined the Group, he is already well versed in the Group’s day-to-day management 
and business operations. He therefore has an extensive understanding of the Group’s overall business needs and 
compliance requirements. When Mr. Lo Ding To joined the Group in 2009 after his graduation from the University of 
East Anglia, United Kingdom, on the basis of his early learning and experience as aforesaid, he brought in new ideas 
about business strategy and operational functions, which help to enhance the production and quality assurance 
systems of the Group. Mr. Lo Ding To supervised a staff team in the then processing factory and 毅高達電子（深圳）
有限公司 (Yi Gao Tech Electronics (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd*) and has been responsible for product development, quality 
control, production planning, logistics, shipping, warehouse and inventory management, as well as vendor 
management activities. Mr. Lo Ding To is currently the production manager of the Group and is responsible for 
overseeing the implementation of the day-to-day manufacturing operations. Mr. Lo Ding To obtained a Bachelor of 
Science in business management from the University of East Anglia, United Kingdom in 2009.
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Ms. Zhou Jia Lin, aged 44, has more than 18 years’ working experience in the management of investment portfolios. 
She has been a non-executive non-independent director of Vashion Group Limited whose shares are listed on the 
Singapore Stock Exchange. She was a director of Lissington Limited from 2003 to 2014 and was responsible for 
overall management and formulation of business strategies and investment plans in various investment portfolios. She 
was also a director of Pinnacle Investment Limited from 1998 to 2002, who undertook corporate finance projects and 
assisted in sourcing for viable businesses to invest in. She has been the sole director and sole shareholder of Blue 
Ocean Financial Group Limited, and the sole director of Blue Ocean Securities Limited since January 2017 and is 
responsible for overall management and formulation of business strategies and investment plans in various investment 
portfolios.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Chan Chun Kit (陳振傑), aged 32, graduated from the University of Exeter with a Bachelor Degree in Business 
Studies (major in Finance and Economics) in 2009. He was the compliance director of Supreme China Securities 
Limited, a licensed corporation to conduct type 1(dealing in securities) regulated activity under the Securities and 
Futures Ordinance, Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong (the “SFO”), from August 2014 to June 2016. He has been a 
director of Neutron Sun Electronics Limited, an electronics sport equipment and software development company, 
since October 2012. Mr. Chan worked in Haitong International Securities Company Limited, a licensed corporation to 
conduct type 1 (dealing in securities), type 2 (dealing in futures contracts) and type 3 (leveraged foreign exchange 
trading) regulated activities under the SFO, as an assistant business manager in Forex and Bullion department from 
December 2009 to February 2013 and as an investment consultant from February 2013 to June 2014.

He was the Responsible Officer of OX Financial Securities Limited, a licensed corporation to conduct type 1 (dealing in 
securities) regulated activity under the SFO from 15 December 2016 to 15 March 2017. He has been a director of 
VisTreasure Asset Management Limited, a licensed corporation to conduct type 9 (asset management) regulated 
activity under the SFO since February 2017. The application for type 9 (asset management) regulated activity under 
the SFO has been made.

Mr. Leung Kwok Kuen Jacob (梁國權), aged 51, has extensive experience in administrative management. From 
2003 to April 2016, he assisted the incorporation of Eternal Pearl Securities Limited (“Eternal Pearl”) in Hong Kong, 
a licensed corporation to conduct type 1 (dealing in securities) and type 2 (dealing in futures contracts) regulated 
activities under the SFO. Since the incorporation of Eternal Pearl, Mr. Leung has been its Administrative Manager and 
responsible for overseeing its support operations and planning and organising and implementing its administrative 
systems. In addition, he has been an independent non-executive director of Industronics Berhad, a company engaged 
in design, manufacture and installation of electronics and microprocessor controlled products and listed on the main 
market of the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, since December 2013 and re-designated as Chairman from December 
2015. He has been a non-executive non-independent director of Vashion Group Limited whose shares are listed on 
the Singapore Stock Exchange, since November 2015. 
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Lam Wai Yuen (林偉源), aged 51, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 27 September 
2013. He has over 29 years of experience in the fields of assurance, corporate restructuring and internal control 
review. He is the managing partner of Eric W.Y. Lam & Company.

Mr. Ang Chuk Pai (洪竹派), aged 54, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 27 September 
2013. He has been working as a system and network specialist in CN Group Limited which is an independent local 
media business based in Carlisle since 2007. He is responsible for (i) supporting the accounting department in both 
Hong Kong and the PRC office for backup management and file management; (ii) procuring the information 
technology equipment and overseeing the cost on purchasing office equipment; and (iii) managing the company 
server and maintaining the SAP (System Application Programing) system. Prior to joining CN Group Limited, he 
worked in HKNet Company Limited from March 2000 to January 2007 during which he worked as a system engineer 
in its technical department for approximately 1 year and as a data centre administrator and a senior engineer in its 
network operations department for approximately 4 years and 2 years respectively. From 1989 to 2000, he worked in 
Hutchison Telephone Company Limited, the mobile unit of Hutchison Telecom in Hong Kong, and was promoted 
from the post of Technician I to that of Engineer II. During such period, he was responsible for overall cell site activities 
involving coordination, cell site database, configuration & monitoring operation, site performance inspection and 
defect checking. From 1981 to 1988, he worked for three companies where he was responsible for the maintenance 
of sound and video equipment, intercom phone, fire system and other electrical appliance. He was awarded a General 
Course Certificate by Vocational Training Council and a Certificate in Electronics by Vocational Training Council in 
1988 and in 1991 respectively. He was awarded a Craft Certificate in Advanced Electronic Servicing by Vocational 
Training Council in 1985. In 1981, he was awarded a Craft Certificate for Radio Mechanics by the Education 
Department of Hong Kong. In 1980, he finished his secondary education. Mr. Ang has over 23 years of experience in 
the electronics industry.

Mr. Cheung Chin Wa, Angus (張展華), aged 39, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 17 
March 2014. He is a fellow member of both The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of 
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators. Mr. Cheung holds a Master Degree of Professional Accounting, a Master 
Degree of Corporate Governance, a Bachelor Degree of Laws and a Bachelor Degree of Arts in Translation. Mr. 
Cheung has extensive experience on corporate governance and company secretarial matters. He has been working in 
the company secretarial field for more than 9 years and is currently the company secretary of China Agri-Products 
Exchange Limited (Stock Code: 149) and Easy One Financial Group Limited (Stock Code: 221).

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Cheng Kwing Sang, Raymond (鄭炯生), aged 67, was appointed as an executive Director on 27 September 
2013, but he resigned from such position on 22 October 2014. Mr. Cheng is currently the chief executive officer as 
well as the marketing director of the Group. Mr. Cheng is responsible for conducting market research, delivering 
product development strategies and implementing marketing plan of the Group. Mr. Cheng is also responsible for 
analysing market data, technology trends and competitors’ pricing to establish pricing strategies. Mr. Cheng joined 
the Group in 1993 as the CEO and sales director of Echo Co and has approximately 24 years of experience in the 
electronics industry. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Cheng worked as a boarding officer in the operation department 
of Hong Kong Maritime Company Limited from 1967 to 1978, run two restaurants in Belize, Central America from 
1978 to 1984, and run a gas station and a restaurant in Youngstown, Alberta, Canada from 1984 to 1990. Mr. 
Cheng Kwing Sang finished his secondary education in 1966. Mr. Cheng Kwing Sang is the elder brother of Ms. 
Cheng Yeuk Hung.
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Ms. Lui Wing Shan (雷頴珊), aged 37, is the company secretary and the chief financial officer of the Company and 
she joined the Group in June 2014. She is responsible for the company secretarial function, the review and supervision 
of the Group’s overall internal control systems and accountancy function. She has more than 10 years of experience in 
accounting, auditing, tax, and consulting and is specialised in auditing and accounting. Ms. Lui holds a bachelor’s 
degree in Business Commerce with a major in Accounting from Hong Kong Shue Yan University in 2005, and is 
currently a practicing member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Prior to joining the Group, 
Ms. Lui worked for various accounting firms and specialised in auditing and accounting.

Mr. Mo Zhaohe (莫兆和), aged 47, is the factory foreman of the processing factory of the Group, but he resigned 
from such position on 20 January 2017. He is responsible for monitoring the factory production process and the plant 
operations flow and overseeing production and administration of the processing factory. Prior to joining the Group in 
April 1997, he worked as a workshop director in a company providing integrated manufacturing services from 
February 1994 to April 1997 and a production manager in a company manufacturing printers from September 1990 
to December 1993. He has accumulated over 24 years of experience in factory administration and production 
management. Mr. Mo obtained the Diploma in Computer Science from the College of Continuing Education, Beijing 
Normal University in 1996.

Ms. Tai Shan Yu, Yoko (戴珊瑜), aged 41, is the purchasing manager of the Group. She has over 18 years of 
procurement and material control experience. She joined the Group in 1996 as the procurement and material control 
executive and was promoted to the purchasing manager of the Group in January 2011. She currently leads a team of 
staff to coordinate the customer quotation and the sourcing of raw materials. She is responsible for (i) developing 
strategies for reducing the cost of raw materials; (ii) handling supply chain issues and maintaining good relationship 
with suppliers; (iii) preparing reports on the trend of cost of raw materials; and (iv) monitoring the trends of EMS 
industry and keeping abreast of the technology changes. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Tai had worked as a senior 
clerk in a company engaged in production of chemical products from 1993 to 1995 and was responsible for the 
procurement of chemical materials. Ms. Tai finished Form Four in 1992.

Mr. Ng Po Lung (吳寶龍), aged 40, is the logistics manager of the Group. Mr. Ng Po Lung joined the Group as 
logistics manager assistant of the Group on 13 March 2006. He has assumed the duties of the logistics manager since 
12 October 2010 and was promoted to logistics manager of the Group on 1 April 2012. As a logistic manager, Mr. 
Ng Po Lung is in charge of daily operation of the logistics department, including logistics, transportation and customer 
service, and is responsible for overseeing the inventory management process and making strategies for appropriate 
inventory levels. He is also responsible for developing and maintaining transportation system on domestic and 
international freight, monitoring shipment updates and identifying shipment risk. In addition, he liaises with customers 
on delivery schedule, and collects feedback from the customers for formulating marketing plans and conducting 
market research with senior marketing management staff to determine sales cycle and strategy and to provide 
updated and efficient sales tools. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Ng Po Lung worked as a contract senior clerk from 
1998 to 2004 in Zung Fu Company Limited, which is the exclusive retailer of Mercedes-Benz automobiles in Hong 
Kong and Macau, whereby he was responsible for the preparation of car sales contract, the application for vehicle 
licence and the customs contracts for the importation of vehicles. Mr. Ng Po Lung finished his junior secondary 
education in 1995 and completed a two-year course at Morrison Hill Technical Institute and was awarded an Advance 
Certificate in Business Management in 1997.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Board and the management of the Company are committed to establishing good corporate governance practices 
and procedures. The maintenance of high standard of business ethics and corporate governance practices has always 
been one of the Group’s goals. The Company believes that good corporate governance provides a framework that is 
essential for effective management, successful business growth and a healthy corporate culture, thereby leading to 
the enhancement of shareholders’ value.

The Board has adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 to the Rules 
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the 
“GEM Listing Rules”). To us, maintaining high standards of corporate governance practices is not just complying 
with the provisions but also enhancing corporate performance and accountability.

Save as disclosed below, the Company has complied with the code provisions of the Code throughout the year ended 
31 March 2017 (the “Financial Year”).

MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the standard set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) 
as it own code governing securities transactions of the Directors. The Company has confirmed, having made specific 
enquiry of the Directors, all the Directors have complied with the standard set out in the Model Code throughout the 
year ended 31 March 2017.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board comprises:

Executive Directors: Mr. Lo Yan Yee (Chairman)
Ms. Cheng Yeuk Hung
Mr. Lo Ding To
Ms. Zhou Jia Lin (appointed on 22 October 2014 
 and redesignated on 9 May 2017)

Non-executive Directors: Mr. Chan Chun Kit
Mr. Leung Kwok Kuen, Jacob

Independent Non-executive Directors: Mr. Lam Wai Yuen
Mr. Ang Chuk Pai
Mr. Cheung Chin Wa, Angus

The biographical details of the Directors and other senior management are set out on pages 11 to 14 of this report.

THE INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
The Company has complied with Rule 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules during the Financial Year relating to the 
requirement that at least one of the independent non-executive Directors must have appropriate professional 
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise. During the Financial Year, the Company has 
complied with Rules 5.05A and 5.05(1) of the GEM Listing Rules relating to the appointment of independent non-
executive Directors representing at least one-third of the Board. Each independent non-executive Director has given 
an annual confirmation of his/her independence to the Company, and the Company considers them to be 
independent under Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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BOARD MEETING ATTENDANCE
The attendance records of each member in the Board meetings during the Financial Year are set out as follows:

Name of directors

Number of
meetings 

attended/held

Mr. Lo Yan Yee 7/7
Ms. Cheng Yeuk Hung 5/7
Mr. Lo Ding To 6/7
Ms. Zhou Jia Lin (appointed on 22 October 2014 and redesignated on 9 May 2017) 7/7
Mr. Chan Chun Kit 7/7
Mr. Leung Kwok Kuen, Jacob 7/7
Mr. Lam Wai Yuen 7/7
Mr. Ang Chuk Pai 6/7
Mr. Cheung Chin Wa, Angus 6/7

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
During the Financial Year, the Company held the annual general meeting on 29 July 2016. Mr. Lo Yan Yee, Ms. 
Cheng Yeuk Hung, Mr. Lo Ding To, Ms. Zhou Jia Lin, Mr. Chan Chun Kit, Mr. Leung Kwok Kuen, Jacob and Mr. Lam 
Wai Yuen attended such annual general meeting.

Pursuant to code provision A.6.7 of the Code, independent non-executive directors should attend general meetings. 
Mr. Ang Chuk Pai and Mr. Cheung Chin Wa, Angus were unable to attend the annual general meeting of the 
Company held on 29 July 2016 due to their other prior engagements.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD
The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Group and is collectively responsible for promoting the 
success of the Group by directing and supervising the Group’s affairs. The Board focuses on formulating the Group’s 
overall strategies, authorising the development plan and budget; monitoring financial and operating performance; 
reviewing the effectiveness of the internal control system; supervising and managing management’s performance of 
the Group; and setting the Group’s values and standards. The management is delegated with the authority and the 
responsibility by the Board for the day-to-day management, administration and operation of the Group. The delegated 
functions are reviewed by the Board periodically to ensure that they accommodate the needs of the Group.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Pursuant to the code provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer should be 
separate and should not be performed by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman 
and the chief executive officer should be clearly established and set out in writing. The roles of the chairman and the 
chief executive officer of the Company are segregated and performed by Mr. Lo Yan Yee and Mr. Cheng Kwing Sang, 
Raymond, respectively.

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Ms. Cheng Yeuk Hung and Mr. Lo Yan Yee are couples. Mr. Lo Ding To is a son of Ms. Cheng Yeuk Hung and Mr. Lo 
Yan Yee. Mr. Cheng Kwing Sang, Raymond is the elder brother of Ms. Cheng Yeuk Hung.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
The current articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”) provide that at each annual general meeting, one-
third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject 
to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every 3 years.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract (an appointment letter in the case of Ms. Zhou Jia 
Lin) with the Company for an initial term of one year with effect from (i) 11 October 2013 (in respect of Mr. Lo Yan 
Yee, Ms. Cheng Yeuk Hung and Mr. Lo Ding To); and (ii) 22 October 2014 (in respect of Ms. Zhou Jia Lin who was 
appointed on 22 October 2014 as non-executive Director), which shall be automatically renewed for successive terms 
of one year until terminated by either party giving not less than three months’ written notice to the other party. Ms. 
Zhou Jia Lin was redesignated as executive Director on 9 May 2017 on the same terms and conditions as set out in 
the appointment letter entered into with the Company with effect from 22 October 2014. Each of the non-executive 
Directors has entered into an appointment letter with the Company for an initial term of one year with effect from (i) 
30 January 2015 (in respect of Mr. Chan Chun Kit); and (ii) 7 September 2015 (in respect of Mr. Leung Kwok Kuen, 
Jacob), which shall be automatically renewed for successive terms of one year until terminated by either party giving 
not less than three months’ written notice to the other party. Each of the independent non-executive Directors has 
entered into an appointment letter with the Company for an initial term of one year with effect from (i) 11 October 
2013 (in respect of Mr. Lam Wai Yuen and Mr. Ang Chuk Pai); and (ii) 17 March 2014 (in respect of Mr. Cheung Chin 
Wa, Angus), which shall be automatically renewed for successive terms of one year until terminated by either party 
giving not less than three months’ written notice to the other party.

DIRECTORS’ LIABILITY INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY
Pursuant to the code provision A.1.8 of the Code, the Company should arrange appropriate insurance coverage in 
respect of legal action against its Directors. The Company has arranged the directors and officers liability insurance for 
its Directors during the Financial Year.

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
To assist Directors’ continuing professional development, the Company recommends Directors to attend relevant 
seminars to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. All the Directors, namely Mr. Lo Yan Yee, Ms. Cheng 
Yeuk Hung, Mr. Lo Ding To, Ms. Zhou Jia Lin, Mr. Chan Chun Kit, Mr. Leung Kwok Kuen, Jacob, Mr. Lam Wai Yuen, 
Mr. Ang Chuk Pai and Mr. Cheung Chin Wa, Angus, participated in continuous professional development 
programmes such as external seminars organised by qualified professionals, to develop and refresh their knowledge 
and skills in relation to their contribution to the Board during the Financial Year. A record of the training for the 
respective Directors are kept and updated by the company secretary of the Company.

All the Directors also understand the importance of continuous professional development and are committed to 
participating any suitable training to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE
The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was established on 27 September 2013. The major 
roles and functions of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial reporting process, financial 
controls, internal control and risk management system of the Company and to provide recommendations and advices 
to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditor as well as their terms of 
appointment. During the Financial Year, the Company adopted a whistleblowing policy in order to allow our 
employees or other stakeholders (e.g. suppliers and customers) of the Company to raise concerns, in confidence, with 
the Audit Committee about possible improprieties in any matter related to the Company.

The Audit Committee currently consists of three independent non-executive Directors namely Mr. Lam Wai Yuen, Mr. 
Ang Chuk Pai and Mr. Cheung Chin Wa, Angus. Mr. Lam Wai Yuen is the chairman of the Audit Committee. No 
member of the Audit Committee is a member of the former or existing auditor of the Company. The terms of 
reference of the Audit Committee are available at the Company’s website and on the website of the Stock Exchange.

During 1 April 2016 up to the date of this report, the Audit Committee had reviewed the first quarterly results and 
report of the Company for the three months ended 30 June 2016, the interim results and report of the Company for 
the six months ended 30 September 2016, the third quarterly results and report of the Company for the nine months 
ended 31 December 2016 and the annual results and report of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2017. The 
Audit Committee also reviewed the Group’s internal control system for the year. All issues raised by the Audit 
Committee are addressed and/or dealt with by the relevant member of the management team and the work, findings 
and recommendations of the Audit Committee are reported regularly to the Board. During the Financial Year, there 
was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee regarding the external auditor and there was no 
issue of significant importance requiring disclosure in this report under the GEM Listing Rules. The Group’s annual 
results for the year ended 31 March 2017 had been reviewed by the Audit Committee prior to the submission to the 
Board for approval. Members of the Audit Committee were of the opinion that the preparation of such results 
complied with the applicable accounting standards, the GEM Listing Rules and that adequate disclosure have been 
made.

The attendance records of each member of the Audit Committee meeting during the Financial Year are set out as 
follows:

Name of members of Audit Committee

Number of 
meetings

attended/held

Mr. Lam Wai Yuen 4/4
Mr. Ang Chuk Pai 4/4
Mr. Cheung Chin Wa, Angus 4/4
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) was established on 27 September 
2013. The Remuneration Committee currently consists of the two independent non-executive Directors Mr. Ang Chuk 
Pai, Mr. Cheung Chin Wa, Angus and one executive Director, Ms. Cheng Yeuk Hung. Mr. Ang Chuk Pai is the 
chairman of the Remuneration Committee. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available at 
the Company’s website and on the website of the Stock Exchange.

The roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee include consulting the Board about the remuneration 
proposals for all Directors and senior management, making recommendation to the Board on the Company’s 
remuneration policy and structure for all Directors and senior management. The Remuneration Committee has 
adopted the approach under B.1.2(c)(ii) of the code provisions of the Code to make recommendations to the Board 
on the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior management.

The attendance records of each member of the Remuneration Committee during the Financial Year are set out as 
follows:

Name of members of Remuneration Committee

Number of
meetings 

attended/held

Ms. Cheng Yeuk Hung 0/0
Mr. Ang Chuk Pai 0/0
Mr. Cheung Chin Wa, Angus 0/0

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) was established on 27 September 
2013. The Nomination Committee currently consists of the two independent non-executive Directors Mr. Ang Chuk 
Pai, Mr. Cheung Chin Wa, Angus and one executive Director Mr. Lo Ding To. Mr. Ang Chuk Pai is currently the 
chairman of the Nomination Committee. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available at the 
Company’s website and on the website of the Stock Exchange.

The roles and functions of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure, size and composition of the 
Board, making recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate 
strategy, identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members of the Board and selecting individuals 
nominated for directorship (if necessary), assessing the independence of the independent non- executive Directors and 
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning 
for Directors, in particular the Chairman and the chief executive officer.

During the Financial Year, the Board adopted a Board Diversity Policy setting out the approach to diversity of members 
of the Board. The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity of Board members. It endeavors to 
ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements 
of the Company’s business. All the appointments for the Board members will continue to be made on a merit basis 
with due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board members.
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Selection and appointment of new directors will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not 
limited to gender, age, cultural background, educational background, qualifications, skills, knowledge, business and 
related experience, commitment, ability to contribute to the Board process and such qualities and attributes that may 
be required by the Board. The ultimate decision will be made upon the merits and contribution that the selected 
candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee shall review the Board Diversity Policy established for implementing diversity on the Board 
periodically.

The attendance records of each member of the Nomination Committee are set out as follows:

Name of members of Nomination Committee

Number of
meetings 

attended/held

Mr. Lo Ding To 0/0
Mr. Ang Chuk Pai 0/0
Mr. Cheung Chin Wa, Angus 0/0

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS
No corporate governance committee has been established by the Company and the Board is responsible for 
performing the corporate governance duties according to the code provision D.3.1 of the Code, which include:

(1) developing and reviewing the policies and practices on corporate governance of the Group and making 
recommendations to the Board;

(2) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior 
management;

(3) reviewing and monitoring the Group’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory 
requirements;

(4) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to 
Directors and employees; and

(5) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure in the corporate governance report of the 
Company.

During the Financial Year, the Board reviewed and monitored the training and continuous professional development 
of the Directors and company secretary of the Company to comply with the Code and the GEM Listing Rules. Further, 
the Board also reviewed and monitored the Group’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory 
requirements. Lastly, the Board reviewed the Company’s compliance with the Code and the disclosure of the 
corporate governance report.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board is responsible for the Company’s internal control system and risk management procedures and for 
reviewing the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. The Board has conducted a review on the system of 
internal controls of the Group, and it has taken and/or will take necessary actions and steps to address the internal 
control issues and deficiencies. The major deficiencies of the Group’s internal control system and the Company’s 
actions are set out on page 10 of this report.

The Group is committed to the identification, monitoring and management of risks associated with its business 
activities. The Group’s internal control system is designed to provide reasonable assurance against material 
misstatement or loss and to manage and minimise risks of failure in operational systems and fulfillment of business 
objective. The system includes a defined management structure with segregation of duties and a cash management 
system such as monthly reconciliation of bank accounts.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting
The management provides such explanation and information to the Board and reports regularly to the Board on the 
financial position and prospects of the business of the Company so as to enable the Board to make an informed 
assessment of the financial and other information put before the Board for approval.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the financial statements of the Group that give a true 
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group. The Board was not aware of any material uncertainties relating to 
events or conditions that might cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and the 
Board has prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis. The responsibility of the external auditor is to 
form an independent opinion, based on their audit, on those consolidated financial statements prepared by the Board 
and to report their opinion to the shareholders of the Company. A statement by auditor about their reporting 
responsibility is set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report.

Auditors’ Remuneration
During the Financial Year, the fees paid to the Company’s auditors is set out as follows:

Services rendered
Fees paid/

payable
(HK$’000)

Audit services 450
Non-audit services 19

The accounts for the Financial Year were audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited whose term of office will 
expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting. The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that HLB 
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited be nominated for re-appointment as the auditors of the Company at the forthcoming 
annual general meeting.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Lui Wing Shan (“Ms. Lui”) was appointed as the company secretary of the Company on 1 June 2014. The 
biographical details of Ms. Lui are set out under the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior 
Management”.

Ms. Lui has been informed of the requirement of Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules, and she confirmed that she had 
attained no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the Financial year.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for communication between the shareholders and the 
Board. An annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year and at the place as may be determined 
by the Board. Each general meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be called an extraordinary general 
meeting (“EGM”).

RIGHT TO CONVENE EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING
Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, any one or more members holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition 
not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the 
Company, shall at all times have the right, by written requisition sent to the Company’s principal office as set out in 
the manner below, to require an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such 
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition.

The written requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, be signed by the requisitionist(s) and deposited to the 
Board or the company secretary of the Company at the Company’s principal place of business at Room 3207A, 32nd 
Floor, Cable TV Tower, 9 Hoi Shing Road, Tsuen Wan, Hong Kong, and such may consist of several documents in like 
form, each signed by one or more requisitionists.

The request will be verified with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that 
the request is proper and in order, the company secretary of the Company will ask the Board to convene an EGM by 
serving sufficient notice in accordance with the Articles and the statutory requirements to all the registered members. 
On the contrary, if the request which has been verified is not in order, the shareholders will be advised of this 
outcome and accordingly, an EGM will not be convened as requested. If within twenty-one days from the date of the 
deposit of the requisition the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s), may convene a 
meeting in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of 
the Board shall be reimbursed by the Company to the requisitionist(s).

RIGHT TO PUT ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD
Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All enquiries shall be in writing and sent by post to the 
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for the attention of the company secretary.

RIGHT TO PUT FORWARD PROPOSALS AT GENERAL MEETINGS
There are no provisions allowing shareholders to purpose new resolutions at the general meetings under the Cayman 
Islands Companies Law (2011 Revision). However, shareholders are requested to follow Article 58 of the Articles for 
including a resolution at an EGM. The requirements and procedures are set out above.

The procedures for shareholders of the Company to propose a person for election as director is posted on the 
Company’s website.

INVESTOR RELATIONS
The Company has established a range of communication channels between itself and its shareholders, investors and 
other stakeholders. These include the annual general meeting, the annual, interim and quarterly reports, notices, 
announcements and circulars and the Company’s website at www.echogroup.com.hk.

For the Financial Year, there had been no change in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the 
Company for the year ended 31 March 2017.

CORPORATE REORGANISATION AND PLACING
The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 21 December 
2010 under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.

Pursuant to the pre-listing reorganisation of the Group (“Reorganisation”) to rationalise the structure of the Group 
in preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange, the Company became the holding 
company of the Group on 14 March 2013. Details of the Reorganisation were set out in the paragraph head 
“Reorganisation” in the section headed “History and development” in the Prospectus.

Following the capitalisation issue of 130,000,000 Shares and the placing of 60,000,000 Shares at a price of HK$0.60 
per Share, the Company was listed on the GEM on 11 October 2013.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing and trading of electronic products and accessories. The 
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements. There 
were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the Financial Year.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by segments is set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The Group’s results for the year ended 31 March 2017 and the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as 
at that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 41 to 102.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2017.

BUSINESS REVIEW
The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2017 is set out in the section headed “Management 
Discussion and Analysis” on the pages 5 to 10 of the annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
The Group is committed to supporting environmental sustainability. The Group is committed to implementing policies 
and measures in our daily business operations to foster reduction of the Group’s environmental impact. Energy saving 
and power monitoring systems are in place of various business units to monitor our environmental performance. The 
Company also strives to implement recycling and reducing measures in office premises where applicable.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS
During the year under review, as far as the Company is aware, there was no material breach of or non-compliance 
with applicable laws and regulations by our Group that had a significant impact on the business and operations of our 
Group.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS
The Company recognises that employees are our valuable assets. Thus employee management focuses on recruiting 
and nurturing the right people. Staff performance is measured on a regular and structured basis to provide employees 
with appropriate feedback and to ensure their alignment with the Group’s corporate strategy.

Our Group also understands that maintaining long-term good relationship with business partners is also one of the 
primary objectives of the Group. Accordingly, our management have kept good communication, promptly exchanged 
ideas and shared business update with them when appropriate. During the year under review, there was no material 
and significant dispute between our Group and its business partners.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
The summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group is set out on page 103.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note 15 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the year are set out in note 26 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

INTEREST CAPITALISED
No interest was capitalised by the Group during the year ended 31 March 2017.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman 
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed 
securities during the year ended 31 March 2017.

RESERVES
Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the year ended 31 March 2017 are 
set out in note 31 and note 28 to the consolidated financial statements and the consolidated statement of changes in 
equity on page 43, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As at 31 March 2017, the Company’s reserves available for distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies 
Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, amounted to HK$5.39 million. The 
amount represents the net of Company’s contribution reserve, share premium, and accumulated losses, which may be 
distributable provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the 
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
The percentages of revenue for the year ended 31 March 2017 attributable to the Group’s major customers and the 
percentages of purchases for the year ended 31 March 2017 attributable to the Group’s major suppliers were as 
follows:

(1) The aggregate amount of revenue attributable to the Group’s five largest customers represented approximately 
67.00% of the Group’s total revenue. The amount of revenue from the Group’s largest customer represented 
approximately 27.63% of the Group’s total revenue.

(2) The aggregate amount of purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers represented approximately 
34.54% of the Group’s total purchases. The amount of purchases from the Group’s largest supplier represented 
approximately 8.93% of the Group’s total purchases.

None of the Directors nor any of their close associates nor any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the 
Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five 
largest customers and/or five largest suppliers during the year ended 31 March 2017.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2017 and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Lo Yan Yee (Chairman)
Ms. Cheng Yeuk Hung
Mr. Lo Ding To
Ms. Zhou Jia Lin (appointed on 22 October 2014 and redesignated on 9 May 2017)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Chun Kit
Mr. Leung Kwok Kuen, Jacob

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Lam Wai Yuen
Mr. Ang Chuk Pai
Mr. Cheung Chin Wa, Angus

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND OTHER SENIOR MANAGEMENT
The biographical details of the Directors and other senior management are disclosed in the section headed 
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 11 to 14 of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract (an appointment letter in the case of Ms. Zhou Jia 
Lin) with the Company for an initial term of one year with effect from (i) 11 October 2013 (in respect of Mr. Lo Yan 
Yee, Ms. Cheng Yeuk Hung and Mr. Lo Ding To); and (ii) 22 October 2014 (in respect of Ms. Zhou Jia Lin who was 
appointed on 22 October 2014 as non-executive Director), which shall be automatically renewed for successive terms 
of one year until terminated by either party giving not less than three months’ written notice to the other party. Ms. 
Zhou Jia Lin was redesignated as executive Director on 9 May 2017 on the same terms and conditions as set out in 
the appointment letter entered into with the Company with effect from 22 October 2014. Each of the non-executive 
Directors has entered into an appointment letter with the Company for an initial term of one year with effect from (i) 
30 January 2015 (in respect of Mr. Chan Chun Kit); and (ii) 7 September 2015 (in respect of Mr. Leung Kwok Kuen, 
Jacob), which shall be automatically renewed for successive terms of one year until terminated by either party giving 
not less than three months’ written notice to the other party. Each of the independent non-executive Directors has 
entered into an appointment letter with the Company for an initial term of one year with effect from (i) 11 October 
2013 (in respect of Mr. Lam Wai Yuen and Mr. Ang Chuk Pai); and (ii) 17 March 2014 (in respect of Mr. Cheung Chin 
Wa, Angus), which shall be automatically renewed for successive terms of one year until terminated by either party 
giving not less than three months’ written notice to the other party. The appointment of the Directors is subject to the 
provisions of the Articles in force from time to time including, but not limited to, the removal provisions and provisions 
on retirement by rotation and re-election.

Pursuant to the Articles, Ms. Zhou Jia Lin shall hold office until the forthcoming annual general meeting, and Mr. Lo 
Ding To, Mr. Chan Chun Kit and Mr. Ang Chuk Pai shall retire from their offices as Directors in the forthcoming 
annual general meeting. They will offer themselves for re-election as the Directors in the forthcoming annual general 
meeting.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the 
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation other than 
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
None of the Directors nor the controlling shareholder of the Company (i.e. Ms. Cheng Yeuk Hung) had any material 
interest in any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries 
was a party during the year ended 31 March 2017.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in force throughout the 
Financial Year. The Company has taken out and maintained appropriate insurance cover in respect of potential legal 
actions against its Directors and officers.
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SHARE OPTIONS SCHEMES
The Company has two share option schemes namely, the pre-IPO share option scheme (the “Pre-IPO Share Option 
Scheme”) and the share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) which were both adopted on 27 September 
2013.

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
The Company has adopted the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme on 27 September 2013 under which the Company has 
granted options to certain Directors of the Group to subscribe for an aggregate of 80,000,000 shares of the Company 
with an exercise price of HK$0.15, which is equal to the placing price as defined in the Prospectus.

As at 31 March 2017, details of the share options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are as follows:

Directors

Outstanding 
as at

31 March 2016 Exercised Lapsed Cancelled

Outstanding 
as at

31 March 2017 Exercise period

Approximate
percentage 

of issued 
capital of 

the Company 
upon exercise 

of all the 
options

Mr. Lo Yan Yee 22,800,000 – – – 22,800,000 11 October 2016–
 11 October 2023

2.59%

Ms. Cheng Yeuk Hung 22,800,000 – – – 22,800,000 11 October 2016–
 11 October 2023

2.59%

Mr. Lo Ding To 12,000,000 – – – 12,000,000 11 October 2016–
 11 October 2023

1.36%

        

57,600,000 – – – 57,600,000 6.54%
Employee 22,400,000 – – – 22,400,000 11 October 2016–

 11 October 2023
2.55%

        

80,000,000 – – – 80,000,000 9.09%
        

Share Option Scheme
During the year ended 31 March 2017, no option was granted, exercised or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITION IN 
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS 
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS
As at 31 March 2017, the interests and short positions of the Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the 
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part 
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571, Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”) which (i) are required to be 
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including 
interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) were 
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or (iii) have to be notified to the Company 
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standards of dealing by directors as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the 
GEM Listing Rules are as follows:

(i) Long positions in the shares of the Company

Name of Director Capacity
Number of

Shares

Approximate
percentage of 

interest

Ms. Cheng Yeuk Hung Personal interest 232,560,000 29.07%
Mr. Lo Yan Yee Interest of spouse 232,560,000 29.07%

Note: Mr. Lo Yan Yee is the executive Director and the spouse of Ms. Cheng Yeuk Hung, and is deemed under the SFO to be interested in 

those 232,560,000 shares in which Ms. Cheng Yeuk Hung is interested.

(ii) Long position in underlying shares of the Company

Name Capacity

Description 
of equity 
derivatives

Number of
underlying 

shares

Mr. Lo Yan Yee Personal interest Options 22,800,000
 (executive Director) Interest of spouse Options 22,800,000

 

45,600,000

Ms. Cheng Yeuk Hung Personal interest Options 22,800,000
 (executive Director) Interest of spouse Options 22,800,000

 

45,600,000

Mr. Cheng Kwing Sang, Raymond Personal interest Options 22,400,000
 (chief executive officer)

Mr. Lo Ding To Personal interest Options 12,000,000
 (executive Director)



Report of the Directors

Echo International Holdings Group Limited29

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2017, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company has any 
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated 
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the minimum standard of 
dealings by Directors of the Company as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules, or required to be notified 
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT 
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY
As at 31 March 2017, so far as is known to the Directors, the following persons (other than a director or chief 
executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which 
would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part 
XV of the SFO or which were recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO:

Name
Capacity and 
nature of interest

Number of 
shares

Percentage of 
the Company’s 

issued share 
capital

Long/Short position/
Lending Pool

Adamas Asset Management 
 (HK) Limited

Investment manager 66,338,000 8.29% Long position

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2017, the Directors are not aware of any other persons (other than a director 
or chief executive of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the 
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the 
SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of 
the Group were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 March 2017.

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS
Details of the remuneration of the Directors of the Company are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial 
statements in this annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY
A remuneration committee is set up for reviewing the Group’s emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of 
the Directors and senior management of the Group, having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual 
performance and comparable market practices. The remunerations of the Directors are determined with reference to 
the economic situation, the market condition, the responsibilities and duties assumed by each Director as well as their 
individual performances.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE
Each independent non-executive Director has given an annual confirmation of his/her independence to the Company, 
and the Company considers them to be independent under Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the information publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company 
has maintained a sufficient public float as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report as 
required under the GEM Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
The consultancy fee paid to Vashion Assets Management Limited, the rental paid to Progress International Holdings 
Limited, the salary paid to Mr. Lo Ding Kwong, the sales to, sundry expenses to and rental paid to Mobile Computer 
Land Limited and the remuneration to the Directors as disclosed in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements 
constituted continuing connected transactions under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules, and are exempt from the 
reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under the GEM Listing Rules. Other 
than that, the Directors are not aware of any related party transactions as disclosed in note 32 to the consolidated 
financial statements that constituted a connected transaction or a continuing connected transaction of the Group 
under the GEM Listing Rules.

COMPETING BUSINESS
For the year ended 31 March 2017, the Directors are not aware of any business or interest of the Directors, the 
controlling shareholder(s) of the Company and their respective close associates (as defined under the GEM Listing 
Rules) that compete or may compete with the business of the Group and any other conflict of interest which any such 
person has or may have with the Group.

COMPLIANCE OF DEED OF NON-COMPETITION
Ms. Cheng Yeuk Hung (the “Controlling Shareholder”) had entered into a deed of non-competition dated 27 
September 2013 (the “Deed of Non-Competition”) in favour of the Company (for itself and on behalf of its 
subsidiaries), pursuant to which the Controlling Shareholder had undertaken, among others, (i) she would not, and 
would procure her close associates not to, except through their interests in the Company, participate in, acquire or 
hold any right or interest or otherwise be interested, involved or engaged in or concerned with, directly or indirectly, 
any business which will or may compete with the businesses engaged by the Group (the “Restricted Business”); and 
(ii) if any business opportunity, which would cause the Controlling Shareholder and/or any of her close associates to 
be directly or indirectly engaged or interested in any Restricted Business, has come to her attention, she would 
promptly notify the Company in writing and refer such business opportunity to the Company for consideration and 
provide such information as may be reasonably required by the Company in order to make an informed assessment of 
such business opportunity.

Details of the Deed of Non-Competition are set out in the section headed “Controlling, Substantial and Significant 
Shareholders — Deed of Non-Competition” of the Prospectus.
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In order to ensure the Controlling Shareholder has complied with the Deed of Non-Competition, the following actions 
have been taken:

(1) the Company has enquired the Controlling Shareholder, from time to time, on whether she or any of her close 
associates has engaged in any business which competes or might compete with the business of the Group 
before publication of its quarterly, interim and annual reports, and the Company has gained an understanding 
from the Controlling Shareholder that she or any of her close associates has not engaged in any business which 
compete or might compete with the business of the Group, which had been disclosed in the Company’s 
quarterly, interim and annual reports;

(2) the Company has required the Controlling Shareholder to give confirmation to the Company on an annual basis 
as to whether she and her close associates have complied with the Deed of Non-Competition;

(3) the Controlling Shareholder has provided to the Company such written confirmation in respect of the 
compliance with the Deed of Non-competition by her and her close associates during the Financial Year; and

(4) the independent non-executive Directors of the Company have reviewed the status of compliance by the 
Controlling Shareholder with the undertakings in the Deed of Non-Competition during the Financial Year and 
confirmed that, so far as they can ascertain, the Controlling Shareholder has complied with the Deed of Non-
competition.

As at 31 March 2017, the Company is not aware of any other matters regarding the compliance of the Deed of Non-
Competition that are required to be brought to the attention of the shareholders of the Company, and there has not 
been any change in the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition during the Financial Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Company is committed to maintaining the highest standard of corporate governance practices. Information on 
the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 
15 to 22 of this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any significant event requiring disclosure that has taken place 
subsequent to 31 March 2017 and up to the date of this report.

AUDITORS
The financial statements for the year were audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited whose term of office will 
expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting. A resolution for the re-appointment of HLB Hodgson Impey 
Cheng Limited as the auditors of the Company for the subsequent year is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual 
general meeting.

By Order of the Board

Lo Yan Yee
Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 June 2017
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1. ABOUT THIS REPORT
This is the first report presents the corporate social responsibility performance of Echo International Holdings 
Group Limited (stock code: 08218) (the “Company”) during the Financial Year.

Reporting scope: This report covers the operations of the Company and its subsidiary 毅高電子(深圳)有限公司 
(collectively, the “Group”) in Hong Kong and the PRC.

Reporting period: 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017.

Report release cycle: This is a yearly report published concurrently with the Company’s annual report.

Report references: This Report is prepared pursuant to the revised “Environmental, Social and Governance 
(“ESG”) Reporting Guide” issued by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) in 
December 2015.

2. BACKGROUND OF THE GROUP
The Group is engaged in electronics manufacturing services (EMS) in Hong Kong since 1989 and was listed on 
the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange on 11 October 2013.

The Group is an EMS provider incorporated in Hong Kong and is principally engaged in the manufacturing and 
trading of electronic products and accessories. The Group provides integrated manufacturing services, including 
provision of design verification, procurement, manufacturing, assembly, testing and inspection, packaging and 
after-sales services for its brand customers. The Group’s products mainly include PCB assemblies used in beauty 
related products, fishing related products, security related products and other electronic related products, e.g. 
hair remover, starter, control board, charger board and other miscellaneous electronic products. In addition, the 
Group also provides a one-stop manufacturing and assembly services of electronic products such as security 
alarm, buzzer, fire alarm, massage toner, fishing indicator and communicator.

3. PRINCIPLE OF THE GROUP’S SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
The Group is committed to support corporate sustainable development with efforts to implement various 
policies and measures in daily operations so as to reduce the Group’s impact on the environment and the 
society.

4. RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS
The Group considers that the employees are our valuable assets. Therefore,  the Group had been following the 
approach to cultivate suitable talents. The Group also understands that maintaining a good long-term 
relationship with business partners is one of the Group’s main targets. The management has good 
communication, timely exchange of ideas and sharing of the latest business information with each of our 
business partners where appropriate. By understanding each other’s expectations on corporate social 
responsibility, we are able to reach various targets of corporate sustainable development.
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Key stakeholders and means of communications:

Key stakeholders Principal communication channels

Customers Visits and meetings
Telephone conferences
Customer questionnaires
Trade fair

Employees Employee newsletters
Company intranet

Community organisations Volunteer activities
Charitable activities

5. COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS
Pursuant to the general disclosure requirements in all aspects set out in the ESG Reporting Guide, the Group 
adopts the “comply or explain”  approach to fulfil the disclosure obligation under relevant laws and regulations 
with significant impact . As at 31 March 2017, the Group did not violate the relevant laws and regulations with 
significant impact on the Group in all aspects.

6. DETAILS OF ENVIRONMENT AND SOCIETY
A. Environment

Aspect A1: Emissions
The Group has implemented various policies and measures in daily operations to reduce its impact on the 
environment. An energy saving and power monitoring system had been installed in each of the business 
units to monitor our environmental performance. We have also adopted suitable recycling and waste 
reduction measures in the office area.

Air improvement
Employees are not encouraged to go on a business trip unless it is necessary. Using network 
communication and video conferencing instead of business travel can help in reducing large amount of 
greenhouse gases produced by transportation vehicles such as airplanes. Full replacement of 
environmentally friendly air conditioning equipment in the factories, including use of refrigerant which 
causes less damage to the ozone layer and purchase of air conditioners with variable frequency drives, 
aiming to reduce air pollution. On the other hand, the gas-powered kitchen equipment in the plants has 
been replaced by those mainly powered by electricity. Such measures may improve air quality by reducing 
gas emissions.

Sewage improvement
Manufacturing process had been optimised to effectively reduce sewage may and eliminate the need for 
cleaning of circuit boards.

Waste reduction
Advocating the 5R principles, namely Refuse, Reduce, Reuse, Repair and Recycle, we strive to achieve 
“zero” emission by collecting empty ink cartridges for recycling in offices.
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Aspect A2: Use of resources
The Group has been implemented various measures to continuously improve the efficiency of the usage of  
resources and energy, including purchase of more energy-efficient equipment and devices according to 
the energy labels, so as to reduce energy consumption.

For office resources and energy such as paper, stationary, electricity and drinking water, we adhere to the 
5R principles as our management policy to ensure our resources and energy can be effectively used. On 
the other hand, we aim to create a paperless office by running different internal systems.

We raise the stakeholders’ awareness of environmental protection by the way of various measures to 
increase internal environmental awareness, e.g. friendly reminder about water and electricity saving, and 
environmental protection information sharing with suppliers.

Solar hot water system had been installed in the factories in the PRC in the early stage for providing 
employees with hot water. Moreover, heat exchange devices were also been installed in the factories. The 
cooling water of the air compressor can be used by employees after heat exchange, which may reduce 
consumption of large amount of natural resources. For the cooling process of plastic injection moulding 
machines, we have replaced the air cooling system with water cooling system to increase and accelerate 
the cooling effect with lesser energy consumption.

In addition, local suppliers are preferred to minimise energy consumption caused by product 
transportation.

Aspect A3: Environment and natural resources
Due to the needs of operating segments and production, our various activities may affect the 
environment. Although our operations do not produce heavy pollution, as a responsible company, we 
endeavor to keep the environment clean and reduce environmental impact and resource consumption.

The Group gives priority to develop and choose materials, product and service that do not cause severe 
damage to the environment. The Group started to use materials that fall under the category of Restriction 
of the use of Certain Hazardous Substances in Electrical and Electronic Equipment (RoHS) as the raw 
materials for production and to require the suppliers to sign the letter of guarantee as one of the 
management procedures since 2005.

Project reconstruction also reduced the environmental pollution caused by production activities. For 
example, the need of cleaning circuit boards was eliminated after project reconstruction which may 
effectively reduce sewage generation. Also, we maintain the product quality while reusing the degraded 
materials produced during the plastic injection moulding process.

B. Society
Aspect B1: Employment
In terms of recruitment and promotion policy, we only consider the ability of candidates as the main 
assessment criteria and refer to the employees’ performance, experience and competence when making 
promotion decisions. In addition to recruiting local people, we also hire foreigners and minorities to create 
a diversified environment. The Group does not reject a candidate, consider employee promotion or dismiss 
an employee based on factors such as gender, age, ethnicity and position in family.
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In terms of remuneration packages, we provide reasonable packages which comply with minimum salary 
requirement in each of the operating places according to the employees’ ability and their rank. We provide 
additional medical insurance for employees to use medical services at low cost and social insurance for 
employees who worked in the PRC factories. The Group also provides additional pension for employees, 
who have served 20 years or more and served till the age of retirement, for their contributions over the 
years.

In terms of working hours, employees are not encouraged nor forced to work overtime in order to 
facilitate family-work balance. The PRC factories are equipped with recreational facilities such as basketball 
courts and badminton courts for employees to enrich their lives and achieve work-life balance.

Aspect B2: Health and safety
The Group maintains a safe working environment and continues to increase the employees’ awareness of 
occupational health and safety to avoid accidents. In addition to providing free personal protective 
equipment, the Group will provide new recruits with safety training to enhance their safety awareness. 
Risk analysis is also provided to office staffs that use screen devices and responsible staffs are assigned to 
perform daily inspection in the plant area so as to prevent accidents. During the reporting period, the 
Group has complied with the laws regarding to occupational health and safety in each of the operating 
places.

Aspect B3: Development and training
The Group organises the latest skills and management courses for employees regularly. Employees can 
also take related courses in trade unions or colleges. After completing the courses, the Company provides 
internal promotion opportunities to employees with good performance. The Group assigns experienced 
employees to give work instruction to junior employees and train up their skills.

Aspect B4: Labour standards
The Group is committed to protect employees’ rights with an aim to create a fair working environment. 
Therefore, we strictly prohibit the use of any forms of forced labour and never recruit child labour.

Aspect B5: Supply chain management
The Group gives priority to the suppliers with awards or certificates in corporate social responsibility. The 
scope of corporate social responsibility includes product and service quality, environmental protection, 
community engagement and conscientious employer etc. We require all suppliers to follow the Supplier’s 
Code prepared by the Group and assess the suppliers’ service performance in achieving our corporate 
social responsibility requirements on an annual basis.

Aspect B6: Product responsibility
The whole process of providing products includes sales, manufacture and after-sales service. The Group 
provides accurate and true information about product quality and safety to customers. Our products for 
customers must be quality approved. We also provide the product quality and safety inspection record as 
requested by individual customers and give a quality assurance for all products. Hotline service is also 
available for customers’ enquiries on product details.

The Group has obtained the ISO 9001 certification for its quality management system, which is an 
international management standard, in 1997.
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Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
Good corporate governance is the first line of defense for anti-corruption. The Board of the Company is 
comprised of members from different institutions to jointly monitor the corporate governance of the 
Company. There are various committees, including audit committee, nomination committee and 
remuneration committee, under the Board.

On the other hand, we require employees to conform to the code of business ethics as stipulated in the 
employment contracts. When there are cases of conflict of interest, they must be reported to the human 
resources department. Anti-corruption trainings are provided to senior management and purchasing 
department which are facing higher risks of conflict of interest to minimise the risk of participating in 
corruption and bribery activities. The Group encourages employees to give advice on or report the 
misconduct of the Company. Whistleblower’s confidentiality must be protected.

Moreover, the Group adopts the “comparison among three suppliers” policy for quotation in the 
operating activities and quotation shall be approved by employees of different ranks according to the 
amount involved to minimise the risk of participating in corruption and bribery activities.

Aspect B8: Community investment
The Group has been actively participating in community activities and supporting charity events such as 
donations for families of firefighters died in the Ngau Tau Kok blaze in June 2016 and staff fundraising  
campaign for Wenchuan earthquake.

We actively arrange our staff to participate in different safety meetings held by community organisations 
and join their employment registration activities. We also conducted fire drills with the community 
organisations successfully for the purpose of increasing fire safety awareness in the community.
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31/F, Gloucester Tower
The Landmark
11 Pedder Street Central
Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF 
ECHO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Island with limited liability)

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Echo International Holdings Group Limited (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 41 to 102, which comprise 
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2017, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of 
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of 
the Group as at 31 March 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the 
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
   

Carrying values of inventories
Refer to Note 3 and 16 to the consolidated financial statements

The carrying values of inventories was approximately 
HK$12,986,000 as at 31 March 2017, with write-down 
of approximately HK$808,000 for the year ended 31 
March 2017 recorded in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The 
management estimated the net realisable values of the 
inventories by reference to the estimated selling price for 
inventories less the estimated costs of completion and 
costs necessary to make the sale.

Our  p rocedures  in  re l a t ion  to  management ’ s 
determination of the carrying values of inventories 
included:

•	 assessing	the	appropriateness	of	the	methodologies	
used by the management for the assessment of the 
net realisable value of inventories;

•	 assessing,	on	a	 sample	basis,	whether	 items	 in	
ageing report prepared by the management where 
classified within the appropriate aging bracket of 
comparing items; and

•	 testing,	on	a	sample	basis,	the	net	realisable	value	
of selected inventory items, by comparing the 
subsequent selling price to year end carrying 
amount.

We found the carrying values of the inventories were 
supported by the available evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditors‘ report thereon. 
(“Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the Other Information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the Other 
Information and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based 
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other Information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a 
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our 
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility 
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify	and	assess	the	risks	of	material	misstatement	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements,	whether	due	to	
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain	an	understanding	of	internal	control	relevant	to	the	audit	 in	order	to	design	audit	procedures	that	are	
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate	the	appropriateness	of	accounting	policies	used	and	the	reasonableness	of	accounting	estimates	and	
related disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
•	 Conclude	on	the	appropriateness	of	the	directors’	use	of	the	going	concern	basis	of	accounting	and,	based	on	

the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate	the	overall	presentation,	structure	and	content	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements,	including	the	
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain	sufficient	appropriate	audit	evidence	 regarding	the	 financial	 information	of	 the	entities	or	business	
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.

We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit.

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits 
of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Shek Lui.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Shek Lui
Practising Certificate Number: P05895

Hong Kong, 21 June 2017
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2017 2016
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Revenue 5 41,657 58,345
Cost of sales (30,639) (47,007)

  

Gross profit 11,018 11,338
Other revenue and gains 7 918 822
Selling and distribution expenses (1,596) (1,826)
Administrative and other expenses (23,130) (23,494)
Finance costs 8 (1,203) (720)

  

Loss before taxation 9 (13,993) (13,880)
Taxation 10 – 141

  

Loss for the year (13,993) (13,739)
  

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax:
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating of foreign operations (1,061) (903)

  

Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of income tax (1,061) (903)
  

Total comprehensive loss for the year (15,054) (14,642)
  

Loss for the year attributable to the owners of the Company (13,993) (13,739)
  

Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable 
 to the owners of the Company (15,054) (14,642)

  

Loss per share 12
 — Basic and diluted (HK cents) (1.7) (1.7)

  

All of the Group’s operations are classed as continuing.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of consolidated financial statements.
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2017 2016
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 15 1,178 1,523

  

Current assets
Inventories 16 12,986 17,883
Trade receivables 17 4,696 7,433
Amount due from a related company 18 75 136
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 19 3,900 5,687
Pledged time deposits 20 2,010 2,003
Cash and bank balances 20 4,617 9,718

  

28,284 42,860
  

Current liabilities
Trade payables 21 2,766 2,654
Accruals and other payables 22 3,599 3,239
Bank overdrafts 20 988 –
Trade deposits received 700 935
Borrowings 24 8,000 10,000
Obligation under finance leases 25 117 117

  

16,170 16,945
  

Net current assets 12,114 25,915
  

Total assets less current liabilities 13,292 27,438
  

Non-current liabilities
Obligation under finance leases 25 107 224

  

Net assets 13,185 27,214
  

Capital and reserves
Share capital 26 2,000 2,000
Reserves 11,185 25,214

  

Total equity 13,185 27,214
  

Approved by the Board of Directors on 21 June 2017 and signed on its behalf by:

Lo, Yan Yee Cheng, Yeuk Hung
Executive Director Executive Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of consolidated financial statements.
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Share

Share Share Contribution Capital option Exchange Retained

capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Note 30(a) Note 30(b) Note 30(c)
         

As at 1 April 2015 2,000 28,840 4,836 (89) 2,839 750 750 39,926

Total Comprehensive loss for the year – – – – – (903) (13,739) (14,642)

Employee share option benefits (Note 27) – – – – 1,930 – – 1,930        

As at 31 March 2016 and 1 April 2016 2,000 28,840 4,836 (89) 4,769 (153) (12,989) 27,214

Total Comprehensive loss for the year – – – – – (1,061) (13,993) (15,054)

Employee share option benefits (Note 27) – – – – 1,025 – – 1,025        

As at 31 March 2017 2,000 28,840 4,836 (89) 5,794 (1,214) (26,982) 13,185
        

The accompanying notes form an integral part of consolidated financial statements.
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2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Operating activities
Loss before taxation (13,993) (13,880)

Adjustments for:
Interest income (9) (42)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 36 –
Inventories write down 808 587
Share based payment 1,025 1,930
Interest expenses 1,203 720
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 503 428

  

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital (10,427) (10,257)
Decrease in trade receivables 2,737 1,899
Decrease in inventories 4,089 1,511
Decrease in deposits, prepayments and other receivables 1,787 2,065
Decrease/(increase) in amount due from a related company 61 (72)
Increase in accruals and other payables 360 1,701
Decrease in trade deposits received (235) (214)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables 112 (2,633)

  

Cash used in operations (1,516) (6,000)
Income tax paid – (559)

  

Net cash used in operating activities (1,516) (6,559)
  

Investing activities
Interest received 9 42
(Increase)/decrease in pledged time deposits (7) 8,038
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 9 –
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (272) (969)

  

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities (261) 7,111
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2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Financing activities
Proceeds from issue of debenture 8,000 10,000
Repayment of debenture (10,000) –
Repayment of bank borrowings – (49)
Interest paid (1,203) (720)
Repayment of obligation under finance leases (117) (117)

  

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities (3,320) 9,114
  

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (5,097) 9,666

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 9,718 885

Effect of exchange rates on the balance of cash held in foreign currencies (992) (833)
  

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 3,629 9,718
  

Analysis of the balance of cash and cash equivalents:
Being:
 Cash and bank balance 4,617 9,718
 Bank overdraft (988) –

  

3,629 9,718
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION
Echo International Holdings Group Limited was incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in 
Cayman Islands on 21 December 2010 under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The addresses of the 
registered office is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman 
Islands and its principal place of business of the Company is Room 3207A, 32/F, Cable TV Tower, 9 Hoi Shing 
Road, Tsuen Wan, Hong Kong. The shares of the Company are listed on the Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM”) 
of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”). Its ultimate controlling shareholder is Ms. 
Cheng Yeuk Hung (“Madam Cheng”).

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are 
engaged in the manufacturing and trading of electronic products and accessories. The consolidated financial 
statements are presents in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the same as the functional currency of the 
Company. All values are rounded to nearest thousands (“HK$’000”) unless otherwise stated.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARD 
(“HKFRSs”)
In the current year, the Group has adopted all of the new standards, amendments and interpretations (“new 
HKFRSs”) (which included all HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and interpretations) issued 
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) that are relevant to its operations and 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2016.

A summary of the new HKFRSs are set out as below:

HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2012–2014 Cycle
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative
Amendments to HKAS 16 
 and HKAS 38

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation

Amendments to HKAS 16 
 and HKAS 41

Agriculture: Bearer Plants

Amendments to HKAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements
Amendments to HKFRS 10, 
 HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28

Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception

Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations
HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts

In the opinion of directors, the application of the new HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on 
the Group’s financial performance and positions for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out 
in these consolidated financial statements.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARD 
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)
The Group has not applied the following new HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective in the 
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative1

Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses1

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments2

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers2

Amendments to HKFRS 15 Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers2

HKFRS 16 Leases3

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration2

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

HKFRS 9 — Financial Instruments
HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduced new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets. 
HKFRS 9 was subsequently amended in 2010 to include requirements for the classification and measurement of 
financial liabilities and for derecognition, and further amended in 2013 to include the new requirements for 
general hedge accounting. Another revised version of HKFRS 9 was issued in 2014 mainly to include (a) 
impairment requirements for financial assets and (b) limited amendments to the classification and measurement 
requirements by introducing a ‘fair value through other comprehensive income’ (“FVTOCI”) measurement 
category for certain simple debt instruments.

•	 All	 recognised	financial	assets	that	are	within	the	scope	of	HKAS	39	Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement are subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt 
investments that are held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, 
and that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 
outstanding are generally measured at amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods. Debt 
instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is achieved both by collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, and that have contractual terms of the financial asset 
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding, are measured at FVTOCI. All other debt investments and equity investments are 
measured at their fair value at the end of subsequent accounting periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9, 
entities may make an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity 
investment (that is not held for trading) in other comprehensive income, with only dividend income 
generally recognised in profit or loss.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARD 
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)
HKFRS 9 — Financial Instruments (Continued)
•	 With	regard	to	the	measurement	of	financial	 liabilities	designated	as	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	 loss,	

HKFRS 9 requires that the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to 
changes in the credit risk of that liability is presented in other comprehensive income, unless the 
recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income would 
create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair value of financial liabilities 
attributable to changes in the financial liabilities’ credit risk are not subsequently reclassified to profit or 
loss. Under HKAS 39, the entire amount of the change in the fair value of the financial liability designated 
as fair value through profit or loss was presented in profit or loss.

•	 In	 relation	to	 the	 impairment	of	 financial	assets,	HKFRS	9	 requires	an	expected	credit	 loss	model,	as	
opposed to an incurred credit loss model under HKAS 39. The expected credit loss model requires an 
entity to account for expected credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses at each reporting 
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In other words, it is no longer necessary for a 
credit event to have occurred before credit losses are recognised.

•	 The	new	general	hedge	accounting	requirements	retain	the	three	types	of	hedge	accounting.	However,	
greater flexibility has been introduced to the types of transactions eligible for hedge accounting, 
specifically broadening the types of instruments that qualify for hedging instruments and the types of risk 
components of non-financial items that are eligible for hedge accounting. In addition, the effectiveness 
test has been overhauled and replaced with the principle of an ‘economic relationship’. Retrospective 
assessment of hedge effectiveness is also no longer required. Enhanced disclosure requirements about an 
entity’s risk management activities have also been introduced.

HKFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with earlier application permitted.

The directors of the Company is in the process of making an assessment of the potential impact of the 
application of HKFRS 9 and it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of HKFRS 9 until 
the Group performs a detailed review.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARD 
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)
HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers
In July 2014, HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive model for entities to use in 
accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue 
recognition guidance including HKAS 18 “Revenue”, HKAS 11 “Construction Contracts” and the related 
Interpretations when it becomes effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised 
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be 
entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the Standard introduces a 5-step approach to 
revenue recognition:

•	 Step	1:	Identify	the	contract(s)	with	a	customer
•	 Step	2:	Identify	the	performance	obligations	in	the	contract
•	 Step	3:	Determine	the	transaction	price
•	 Step	4:	Allocate	the	transaction	price	to	the	performance	obligations	in	the	contract
•	 Step	5:	Recognise	revenue	when	(or	as)	the	entity	satisfies	a	performance	obligation

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when 
‘control’ of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the 
customer. Far more prescriptive guidance has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios. 
Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 15.

HKFRS 15 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017, with earlier application 
permitted.

The directors anticipate that the application of HKFRS 15 in the future may have a material impact on the 
amounts reported and disclosures made in the Group’s consolidated financial statements. However, it is not 
practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of HKFRS 15 until the Group performs a detailed 
review.

HKFRS 16 Leases
HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements and accounting 
treatments for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will supersede HKAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations 
when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by a 
customer. Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced 
by a model where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability have to be recognised for all leases by 
lessees, except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARD 
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)
The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain 
exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease 
liability. The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at 
that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of 
lease modifications, amongst others. For the classification of cash flows, the Group currently presents upfront 
prepaid lease payments as investing cash flows in relation to leasehold lands for owned use and those classified 
as investment properties while other operating lease payments are presented as operating cash flows. Under the 
HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation to lease liability will be allocated into a principal and an interest portion 
which will be presented as financing cash flows.

Under HKAS 17, the Group has already recognised an asset and a related finance lease liability for finance lease 
arrangement and prepaid lease payments for leasehold lands where the Group is a lessee. The application of 
HKFRS 16 may result in potential changes in classification of these assets depending on whether the Group 
presents right-of-use assets separately or within the same line item at which the corresponding underlying assets 
would be presented if they were owned.

In contrast to lessee accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in 
HKAS 17, and continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either as an operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of these will have a material effect on the 
Group’s consolidated financial statements.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of other new HKFRS will have a material 
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs (which also include Hong 
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and interpretations) issued by the HKICPA, accounting principles 
generally accepted in Hong Kong, the disclosure requirement of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“CO”) 
and the applicable disclosure provisions of The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock 
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”).

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience 
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form 
the basis of making judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from 
other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and assumptions are reviewed on 
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates is 
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision 
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the consolidated 
financial statements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustments in the next year are discussed 
in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial 
instruments which are measured at fair values, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for assets.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group 
takes into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for 
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the 
scope of HKAS 17, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net 
realisable value in HKAS 2 or value in use in HKAS 36.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Basis of preparation (Continued)
In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based 
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the 
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

•	 Level	1	 inputs	are	quoted	prices	 (unadjusted)	 in	active	markets	for	 identical	assets	or	 liabilities	that	the	
entity can access at the measurement date;

•	 Level	2	 inputs	are	 inputs,	other	than	quoted	prices	 included	within	Level	1,	that	are	observable	for	the	
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

•	 Level	3	inputs	are	unobservable	inputs	for	the	asset	or	liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities 
(including structured entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the 
Company:

•	 has	power	over	the	investee;

•	 is	exposed,	or	has	rights,	to	variable	returns	from	its	involvement	with	the	investee;	and

•	 has	the	ability	to	use	its	power	to	affect	its	returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee 
when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee 
unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Group’s 
voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

•	 the	size	of	the	Group’s	holding	of	voting	rights	relative	to	the	size	and	dispersion	of	holdings	of	the	other	
vote holders;

•	 potential	voting	rights	held	by	the	Group,	other	vote	holders	or	other	parties;

•	 rights	arising	from	other	contractual	arrangements;	and

•	 any	additional	facts	and	circumstances	that	 indicate	that	the	Group	has,	or	does	not	have,	the	current	
ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns 
at previous shareholders’ meetings.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of 
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
from the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and 
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the 
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit 
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control 
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and 
the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any 
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the 
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as 
the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any 
retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the 
subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or 
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as 
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at 
the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under 
HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or, when applicable, the cost on initial 
recognition of an investment in an associate or a jointly venture.

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, 
potential voting rights that presently are exercisable are taken into account. The financial statements of 
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until 
the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances and transactions and any unrealised profits arising from intra- 
group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses 
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent 
that there is no evidence of impairment.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition
Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if 
applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income as follows:

(i) Sales of goods
Revenue is recognised when goods are recognised on the transfer of risks and rewards of ownership, 
which generally considers with the time when goods are delivered to customers and title has passed. 
Revenue is recognised after deduction of any trade discounts.

(ii) Subcontracting income
Revenue from the provision of subcontracting service is recognised when the service are provided.

(iii) Interest income
Interest income from bank deposits is accrued on a timing basis, by reference to the principal outstanding 
and at the interest rate applicable.

Leasing
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership to the leasee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee
Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception 
of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the 
lessor is included in the consolidated statements of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as to 
achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised 
immediately in profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are 
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs (see the accounting policy below). 
Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except 
where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the 
leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in 
which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a 
liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line 
basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic 
benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currencies
The functional currency of the Company and its Hong Kong subsidiary is HK$. The functional currency of the 
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) subsidiary is RMB. The consolidated financial statements is presented in HK$ 
which is the Group’s presentation currency. This is also the currency of the primary economic environment in 
which the Group operates. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included 
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements of each individual Group entities, transactions in currencies 
other than that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which the entity operates) at the exchange rates prevailing on the dates 
of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated 
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the translation of monetary items, are 
recognised in profit or loss in the reporting period in which they arise, except for:

•	 exchange	differences	on	foreign	currency	borrowings	relating	to	assets	under	construction	for	 future	
productive use, which are included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded as an adjustment to 
interest costs on those foreign currency borrowings;

•	 exchange	difference	on	transactions	entered	into	in	order	to	hedge	certain	foreign	currency	risks;	and

•	 exchange	differences	on	monetary	 items	receivable	from	or	payable	to	a	 foreign	operation	for	which	
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the 
foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from 
equity to profit or loss on repayment of the monetary items.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the asset and liabilities of the Group’s foreign 
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing 
at the end of the reporting period. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for 
the period, unless exchange rates fluctuated significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at 
the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading of foreign translation reserve (attributable 
to non-controlling interests as appropriate).
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)
On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a 
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of 
joint control over a jointly controlled entity that includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of 
significant influence over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences 
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to 
profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation that does not result 
in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences is 
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and is not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. 
partial disposal of associates or jointly controlled entities that do not result in the Group losing significant 
influence or joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to 
profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments to identifiable assets acquired arising on the acquisition of a foreign 
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange 
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in entity under the 
heading of exchange reserve.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which 
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are 
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their 
intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, leave passage and the cost to the Group of nonmonetary benefits 
are accrued in which the associated services are rendered by employees of the Group. Where payment or 
settlement is deferred and the effect would be material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF 
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to 
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries 
and are charged to the consolidated statements of comprehensive income as they become payable in 
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Retirement benefit costs (Continued)
As stipulated by the rules and regulations of the PRC, the Company’s subsidiary registered in the PRC are 
required to contribute to a state-sponsored retirement plan for all its PRC employees at certain percentages of 
the basic salaries predetermined by the local governments. The state-sponsored retirement plan is responsible 
for the entire retirement benefit obligations payable to retired employees and the Group has no further 
obligations for the actual retirement benefit payments or other post-retirement benefits beyond the annual 
contributions.

The costs of employee retirements are recognised as expenses in the consolidated statements of comprehensive 
income in the period in which they are incurred.

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand 
and demand deposits which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three months when acquired, 
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form in integral part of the Group’s cash 
management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statements of financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash 
on hand and at banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted to use.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year end. Taxable profit differs from profit as 
reported in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income because of items of income or expense that 
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for 
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable profit. 
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are 
generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits 
will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition 
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the 
taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary 
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal 
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and 
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against 
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable 
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset 
to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which 
the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the 
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount 
of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to items that are recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively when current tax or deferred tax 
arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the
business combination.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised in the consolidated statements of financial position so as to write off the cost of 
assets less their residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-line method.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement 
of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and 
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit and loss.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

Leasehold improvements 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Office equipment 3–4 years
Computer equipment 3–4 years
Motor vehicles 3–4 years
Mould 3–4 years
Plant and machinery 3–4 years

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned 
assets.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at each reporting date.

Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is computed using 
the weighted average basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods, includes expenditure 
incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing them 
to their existing location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price for inventories less the estimated costs of completion and costs 
necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in which the 
related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses 
of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any 
reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised 
as an expense in which the reversal occurs.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal and constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made 
of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are reviewed at the end of each of reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. 
Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount of a provision is the present value of the 
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligations.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when an entity becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. 
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities 
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted 
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction 
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets
The Group’s financial assets are classified into loans and receivables. All regular way purchases or sales of 
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are 
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by 
regulation or convention in the market place.

Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts (including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part of the 
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the debt 
instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Income is recognised on effective basis for debt instruments.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. Loan and receivables (including trade receivables, amount due from a related 
company, other receivables, pledged time deposits and cash and bank balances) are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less any impairment.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Debt and equity instruments issued by a Group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in 
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an 
equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting 
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct 
issue costs.

Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities (including trade payables, other payables, bank overdrafts, borrowings and obligation 
under finance leases) are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of 
allocating interest expenses over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash payments (including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part of the 
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the 
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense as recognised on an effective interest basis.

Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset expire, or when financial 
assets are transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
financial asset to another entity. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that 
had been recognised directly in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit 
or loss.

Financial liabilities are removed from the Group’s consolidated statements of financial position when the 
obligations specified in the relevant contract are discharged cancelled or expired. The difference between the 
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in 
profit or loss.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of assets
(i) Financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Financial 
assets are considered to be impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more 
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimate future cash flows of 
the investment have been affected.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

•	 significant	financial	difficulty	of	the	issuer	or	counterparty;	or

•	 breach	of	contracts,	such	as	a	default	or	delinquency	in	interest	or	principal	payments;	or

•	 it	becoming	probable	that	the	borrower	will	enter	bankruptcy	or	financial	reorganisation;	or

•	 the	disappearance	of	an	active	market	for	that	financial	asset	because	of	financial	difficulties.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be 
impaired individually are assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment 
for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase 
in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit period of within 90 days, as 
well as observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on 
receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted 
at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed 
in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets 
with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an 
allowance account. When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the 
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the 
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or 
loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment 
loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was 
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that 
the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the 
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of assets (Continued)
(ii) Other assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible 
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If 
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the 
extent of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an 
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the 
asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are 
also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of 
cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for 
impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in 
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for 
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable 
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried 
at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating 
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss 
been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which 
case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties transactions
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(1) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group.

(2) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each parent, subsidiary 
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a 
member of a group of which the other entity is a member);

(iii) both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or an 
entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (1);

(vii) a person identified (1)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group is a part, provides key management personnel services to the 
group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be 
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between reporting entity and a 
related party, regardless of whether a price is charged.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Segment reporting
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the consolidated financial statements, 
are identified from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s executive directors, being the 
chief operating decision maker, for the purpose of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, 
the Group’s various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individual material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the segments 
have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products and services, the nature 
of production processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide 
the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not individually 
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will only be 
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the 
control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past events that is not recognised because 
it is not probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be 
measured reliably. A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements. When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, they 
will then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by 
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the 
Group. A contingent asset is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements 
when an inflow of economic benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually certain, an asset is recognised.

Share based payment arrangements
For grants of share options that are conditional upon satisfying specified vesting conditions, the fair value of 
services received is determined by reference to the fair value of share options granted at the date of grant and is 
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in equity (share options 
reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected 
to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such 
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share options 
reserve.

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the share options granted is 
expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred 
to share premium. When share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry 
date, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to retained earnings.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, management is required to 
make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not 
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical 
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving estimations, that the directors have made in 
the process of applying the entity’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

(a) Net realisable value of inventories
Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less 
estimated costs of completion and distribution expenses. These estimates are based on the current market 
condition and historical experience of selling products of similar nature. It could change significantly as a 
result of competitor actions in response to severe industry cycles. Management reassesses these 
estimations at the end of the reporting period to ensure inventories are shown at the lower of cost and 
net realisable value.

(b) Impairment of trade receivables
The Group estimates impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts resulting from inability of the 
customers to make the require payments. The estimate is based on the aging of the trade receivable 
balance, customer credit-worthiness, and historical write-off experience. If the financial conditions of the 
customers were to deteriorate, actual write-offs would be higher than estimated.

(c) Income taxes
Determining income tax provisions involve judgment on the future tax treatment of certain transactions. 
The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of transactions and tax provisions are set up accordingly. 
The tax treatment of such transactions is reconsidered periodically to take into account all changes in tax 
legislations. Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses not yet used and temporary deductible 
differences. As those deferred tax assets can only be recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax credits can be utilised, management’s 
judgment is required to assess the probability of future taxable profits. Management’s assessment is 
constantly reviewed and additional deferred tax assets are recognised if it becomes probable that future 
taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

(d) Share based payment
For grants of share options that are conditional upon satisfying specified vesting conditions, the fair value 
of services received is determined by reference to the fair value of share options granted at the grant date 
and is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in equity 
(share option reserve).
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
(d) Share based payment (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that are 
expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in 
profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding 
adjustment to share options reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be 
transferred to share premium. When share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not 
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred 
to retained earnings.

5. REVENUE
The principal activities of the Group are manufacturing and trading of electronic products and accessories. The 
amount of each significant category of revenue recognised during the year is as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Sale of electronic products 41,053 57,983
Subcontracting income 604 362

  

41,657 58,345
  

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION
Information reported internally to the directors of the Group (chief operating decision maker) for the purpose of 
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on types of goods or services delivered or 
provided.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

•	 indent	trading	of	electronic	products.

•	 manufacturing	and	trading	of	electronic	products	and	accessories	and	subcontracting	income.

The Group reportable segments are strategic business units that operate different activities. They are managed 
separately because each business has different market and requires different marketing strategies.

Segment revenues reported below represents revenue generated from external customers. There were no inter- 
segment sales for both years.

Segment result represents the profit/(loss) generated by each segment without allocation of corporate income 
and central administration costs including directors’ emoluments, share based payment, finance costs and 
income tax expense. This is the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of 
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment revenues and results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s turnover and results from continuing separations by reportable and 
operating segments:

For the year ended 31 March 2017

Manufacturing
and trading of

electronic
products and

Indent trading accessories and
of electronic subcontracting

products income Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Revenue 2,628 39,029 41,657
   

Segment results 915 (6,655) (5,740)
  

Unallocated other revenue and gains 514
Unallocated selling and distribution expenses (902)
Unallocated administrative and other expenses (6,662)

 

Loss from operations (12,790)
Finance costs (1,203)

 

Loss before taxation (13,993)
Taxation –

 

Loss for the year (13,993)
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment revenues and results (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2016

Manufacturing
and trading of

electronic
products and

Indent trading accessories and
of electronic subcontracting

products income Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Revenue 15,224 43,121 58,345
   

Segment results 394 (7,241) (6,847)
  

Unallocated other revenue and gains 573
Unallocated selling and distribution expenses (906)
Unallocated administrative and other expenses (5,980)

 

Loss from operations (13,160)
Finance costs (720)

 

Loss before taxation (13,880)
Taxation 141

 

Loss for the year (13,739)
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment assets and liabilities
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities from continuing operations by reportable 
segment:

As at 31 March 2017

Manufacturing
and trading of

electronic
products and

Indent trading accessories and
of electronic subcontracting

products income Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Segment assets 281 17,538 17,819
Unallocated corporate assets 11,643

 

Consolidated assets 29,462
 

Segment liabilities 171 3,296 3,467
Unallocated corporate liabilities 12,810

 

Consolidated liabilities 16,277
 

As at 31 March 2016

Manufacturing
and trading of

electronic
products and

Indent trading accessories and
of electronic subcontracting

products income Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Segment assets 416 24,956 25,372
Unallocated corporate assets 19,011

 

Consolidated assets 44,383
 

Segment liabilities 720 2,869 3,589
Unallocated corporate liabilities 13,580

 

Consolidated liabilities 17,169
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)
For the purpose of monitoring segment performances and allocating resources between segments:

•	 all	assets	are	allocated	to	operating	segments	other	than	unallocated	corporate	assets	(mainly	comprising	
certain of amount due from a related party, deposits, payments and other receivables); and

•	 all	 liabilities	are	allocated	 to	operating	segments	other	 than	unallocated	corporate	 liabilities	 (mainly	
comprising certain of borrowings, bank overdrafts, obligations under finance leases, accruals and other 
payables).

Other segment information
For the year ended 31 March 2017

Indent trading
of electronic

products

Manufacturing
and trading of

electronic
products and

accessories and
subcontracting

income Unallocated Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Amount included in the measure 
 of segment results
Capital expenditure – 272 – 272
Depreciation of property, 
 plant and equipment – 307 196 503

    

For the year ended 31 March 2016

Indent trading
of electronic

products

Manufacturing
and trading of

electronic
products and

accessories and
subcontracting

income Unallocated Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Amount included in the measure 
 of segment results
Capital expenditure – 969 – 969
Depreciation of property, 
 plant and equipment – 189 239 428
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Other segment information (Continued)
Amounts regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker but not included in the measure of segment 
results of segments assets:

For the year ended 31 March 2017

Indent trading
of electronic

products

Manufacturing
and trading of

electronic
products and

accessories and
subcontracting

income Unallocated Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Interest income – 2 7 9
Finance costs – – 1,203 1,203

    

For the year ended 31 March 2016

Indent trading
of electronic

products

Manufacturing
and trading of

electronic
products and

accessories and
subcontracting

income Unallocated Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Interest income – 1 41 42
Finance costs – 1 719 720
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Revenue from major products and services
The Group’s revenue from its major products and services are as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Security alarm 1,480 681
Hair remover 825 1,810
Buzzer 4,525 5,340
Massage toner 81 540
Fishing indicator 11,516 11,410
Charger board 2,763 1,587
Control board 7,937 11,146
Fire alarm 3,827 6,910
Communicator 69 1,009
Others 8,030 17,550

  

41,053 57,983
Subcontracting income 604 362

  

41,657 58,345
  

Geographical information
The Group operates in two principal geographical areas — manufacturing in the PRC and trading business in 
Hong Kong.

The Group’s geographical segments are classified according to the location of customers. There are four 
customer-based geographical segments. Segment revenue from external customers by the location of customer 
is as follows:

Revenue from 
external customers

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Hong Kong 2,172 16,078
Asian Countries, other than Hong Kong (Note a) 4,098 3,353
European Countries (Note b) 25,654 27,849
North and South American Countries (Note c) 9,150 10,573
Others 583 492

  

41,657 58,345
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Geographical information (Continued)
Notes:

(a) Asian countries include the PRC, India, Malaysia, Singapore, and Taiwan.

(b) European countries include Belgium, Bulgaria, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, Germany, Italy, Poland, Portugal, Russia, Slovakia, Spain, 
Sweden, Switzerland and United Kingdom.

(c) North and South American countries include Argentina, Brasil, Canada, Columbia and the United States.

The Group’s geographical segments are also classified by the location of assets, information about its non- 
current assets by geographical location are set out below:

Additions to 
Non-current assets Non-current assets

2017 2016 2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Hong Kong 272 932 1,023 1,243
PRC – 37 155 280

    

272 969 1,178 1,523
    

Information about major customers
For the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group’s customer base includes three customers (2016: four customers) 
with whom transactions have individually exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue. No other single customer 
contributed 10% or more to the Group’s revenue for both years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016.

Revenue from major customers, amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s revenue is set out below:

Revenue from external customers
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Customer A 11,516 11,411
Customer B (Note (a)) – 11,926
Customer C 4,531 7,351
Customer D (Note (b)) 5,170 –
Customer E (Note (a)) – 6,894

  

21,217 37,582
  

Notes:

(a) No information on revenue for the current year is disclosed for these customers since they did not contribute 10% or more to the 
Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2017.

(b) No information on revenue for the last year is disclosed for these customers since none of them contributed 10% or more to the Group’s 
revenue for the year ended 31 March 2016.
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7. OTHER REVENUE AND GAINS

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Bank interest income 9 42
Net foreign exchange gain – 144
PRC government subsidies (Note) 57 –
Sundry income 852 636

  

918 822
  

Note:  Various governments grant have been received in relation to employee social benefit. There are no unfulfilled conditions or 

contingencies related to these subsidies.

8. FINANCE COSTS

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Interests on:
 — Debenture wholly repayable within one year 1,192 677
 — Bank borrowings wholly repayable within five years – 1
 — Bank overdrafts wholly repayable within five years – 31
 — Obligation under finance leases 11 11

  

1,203 720
  

9. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Loss before taxation is arrived after charging:
Staff costs including directors’ remuneration 16,213 16,675
Contribution to retirement schemes 866 897
Share based payment expenses 1,025 1,930

  

Total staff costs 18,104 19,502
  

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 15) 503 428
Auditors’ remuneration
 — Audit services 450 450
 — Non-audit services 19 50
Cost of inventories sold 30,277 46,446
Inventories write down (Note (a)) 808 587
Operating lease rental expenses 3,838 3,539
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 36 –

  

Note:

(a) The amount is included in administrative expenses.
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10. TAXATION

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Current tax
 — Hong Kong – –
 — PRC – –
Overprovision of Hong Kong Profits Tax for prior year – (141)

  

– (141)
  

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for the 
year ended 31 March 2017 and 2016. No provision of Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Group had 
no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year.

PRC subsidiary is subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax at 25%. No provision the PRC Enterprise Income Tax has 
been made as the subsidiary incorporated in the PRC had no assessable profits arising in the PRC for the year 
ended 31 March 2017 and 2016.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), the Group is 
not subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI for the year ended 31 March 2017 and 2016.

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in 
which the Group operates, based on existing legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

No deferred tax liabilities was provided in respect of the tax that would be payable on the distribution of the 
retained profits as the Group determined that the retained profits as at 31 March 2017 would not be distributed 
in the foreseeable future.

The Group has tax losses of approximately HK$3,744,000 (2016: HK$3,735,000) which are available indefinitely 
for affecting against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose and deferred tax assets 
have not been recognised in respect of these losses because in the opinion of the Directors, it is not considered 
probable that taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.
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10. TAXATION (Continued)
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss before taxation per the consolidated statements of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Loss before taxation (13,993) (13,880)
  

Tax at the applicable tax rate (3,117) (2,831)
Tax effect of non-deductible expense for tax purpose 1,580 1,118
Unrecognised temporary difference 50 16
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 1,487 1,697
Overprovision of Hong Kong Profits Tax for prior year – (141)

  

– (141)
  

11. DIVIDENDS
The board of directors did not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year ended 31 March 2017 
(2016: Nil).

12. LOSS PER SHARE

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Loss
Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the
 purpose of calculating basic loss per share (13,993) (13,739)

  

2017 2016

Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose
 of calculating basic earnings per share 800,000,000 800,000,000

  

Loss per share
 — Basic and diluted (HK cents) (1.7) (1.7)

  

The diluted loss per share is the same as the basic loss per share for the year ended 31 March 2017 and 2016 
because the Company’s share options outstanding during these years were anti-dilutive.
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS
The aggregate amounts of emoluments paid by the Group to the directors and the chief executive officer of the 
Company during the year are as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Directors’ fees 1,080 1,028
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 2,314 2,470
Discretionary bonus 150 –
Retirement scheme contributions 53 54
Share based payment expenses 1,025 1,930

  

4,622 5,482
  

Details for the emoluments of each director of the Company during the year are as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2017

Salaries
allowance Retirement

Share base
payment

Directors’
fee

and benefits 
in kind

Discretionary
bonus

scheme
contribution Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
       

Executive directors:
Mr. Lo Yan Yee (Chairman) 292 120 600 40 17 1,069
Ms. Cheng Yeuk Hung 
 (“Madam Cheng”) 292 120 600 40 18 1,070
Mr. Lo Ding To 154 120 514 30 18 836
Ms. Zhou Jia Lin (Note (b)) – 120 – – – 120

Non-executive directors:
Mr. Leung Kwok Kuen,
 Jacob (Note (e)) – 120 – – – 120
Mr. Chan Chun Kit (Note (c)) – 120 – – – 120

Independent non-executive 
 directors:
Mr. Ang Chuk Pai – 120 – – – 120
Mr. Cheung Chin Wa, Angus (Note (a)) – 120 – – – 120
Mr. Lam Wai Yuen – 120 – – – 120

Chief-executive officer:
Mr. Cheng Kwing Sang (Note (d)) 287 – 600 40 – 927

      

1,025 1,080 2,314 150 53 4,622
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
Details for the emoluments of each director of the Company during the year are as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2016

Salaries
allowance Retirement

Share base Directors’  and benefits Discretionary scheme
payment fee  in kind bonus contribution Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Executive directors:
Mr. Lo Yan Yee (Chairman) 550 120 640 – 18 1,328
Ms. Cheng Yeuk Hung 
 (“Madam Cheng”) 550 120 640 – 18 1,328
Mr. Lo Ding To 290 120 550 – 18 978
Ms. Zhou Jia Lin (Note (b)) – 120 – – – 120

Non-executive directors:
Mr. Leung Kwok Kuen, Jacob (Note (e)) – 68 – – – 68
Mr. Chan Chun Kit (Note (c)) – 120 – – – 120

Independent non-executive 
 directors:
Mr. Ang Chuk Pai – 120 – – – 120
Mr. Cheung Chin Wa, Angus (Note (a)) – 120 – – – 120
Mr. Lam Wai Yuen – 120 – – – 120

Chief-executive officer:
Mr. Cheng Kwing Sang (Note (d)) 540 – 640 – – 1,180

      

1,930 1,028 2,470 – 54 5,482
      

Notes:

(a) Mr. Cheung Chin Wa, Angus has been appointed as an independent non-executive director on 17 March 2014.

(b) Ms. Zhou Jia Lin has been appointed as an non-executive director on 22 October 2014 and redesignated as executive director on 9 May 
2017.

(c) Mr. Chan Chun Kit has been appointed as an independent non-executive director on 30 January 2015 and redesignated as an non-
executive director on 9 March 2015.

(d) Mr. Cheng Kwing Sang, Raymond was also the chief executive officer of the Company and has been resigned as executive director on 
22 October 2014.

(e) Mr. Leung Kwok Kuen, Jacob has been appointed as a non-executive director on 7 September 2015.

For the year ended 31 March 2017, there were no amounts paid during the year to the directors in connection 
with their retirement from employment with the Group, or inducement to join (2016: Nil). There was no 
arrangement under which the directors and chief executive officer waived or agreed to waive any remuneration 
during the year (2016: Nil). During the year ended 31 March 2017, none of the directors and chief executive are 
options under the share option scheme operated by the Company (2016: Nil).
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14. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
(a) Five highest paid individual

The five highest paid individuals during the year are three directors (2016: three) with their emoluments 
disclosed in Note 13.

The detail of the emoluments of the remaining two (2016: two) highest paid individuals are as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Salaries, allowances and other benefits 1,360 1,120
Retirement schemes contributions 15 18

  

1,375 1,138
  

The emoluments of the two (2016: two) individuals with the highest emoluments are fell within the 
following band:

Number of individuals
2017 2016

   

Nil to HK$1,000,000 2 2
  

(b) Senior Management of the Company
The emoluments of the senior management other than the highest paid individuals of the Group are 
within the following band:

Number of individuals
2017 2016

   

Nil to HK$1,000,000 4 3
  

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors or any of the five highest paid 
employees as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None 
of the directors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the year.
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold Furniture Office Computer Motor Plant and

improvements & fixtures equipment equipment vehicles Mould machinery Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
         

Cost

As at 1 April 2015 2,095 205 1,580 854 1,252 32 4,680 10,698

Additions 838 22 88 11 – – 10 969

Exchange realignment – – (9) – (14) – (87) (110)
        

As at 31 March 2016 and 

 1 April 2016 2,933 227 1,659 865 1,238 32 4,603 11,557

Additions 256 2 – 14 – – – 272

Written off on disposal – – – – (150) – – (150)

Exchange realignment – – (22) – (16) – (94) (132)
        

As at 31 March 2017 3,189 229 1,637 879 1,072 32 4,509 11,547
        

Accumulated

 Depreciation

As at 1 April 2015 2,095 205 1,494 761 574 32 4,485 9,646

Provided for the year 16 1 43 39 239 – 90 428

Exchange realignment – – (6) – (5) – (29) (40)
        

As at 31 March 2016 and 

 1 April 2016 2,111 206 1,531 800 808 32 4,546 10,034

Provided for the year 202 5 51 41 196 – 8 503

Written off on disposal – – – – (105) – – (105)

Exchange realignment – – (11) – (7) – (45) (63)
        

As at 31 March 2017 2,313 211 1,571 841 892 32 4,509 10,369
        

Carrying amount

As at 31 March 2017 876 18 66 38 180 – – 1,178
        

As at 31 March 2016 822 21 128 65 430 – 57 1,523
        

Note: The carrying amount of the Group’s property, plant and equipment which was held under finance lease as at 31 March 2017 and 2016 

were approximately HK$41,000 and HK$207,000 respectively (Note 25).
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16. INVENTORIES

As at As at
31 March 2017 31 March 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Raw materials 7,309 9,147
Work-in-progress 5,099 8,270
Finished goods 578 466

  

12,986 17,883
  

17. TRADE RECEIVABLES

As at As at
31 March 2017 31 March 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Trade receivables 4,696 7,433
  

The following is an analysis of trade receivables by age, presented based on the invoice date. The analysis below 
is net of allowance for doubtful debts:

As at As at
31 March 2017 31 March 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

0 to 30 days 4,116 5,215
31 to 60 days 92 1,195
61 to 90 days – 368
91 to 180 days 13 189
Over 180 days 475 466

  

4,696 7,433
  

The average credit period on sales of goods ranges from 0 to 90 days. In view of the fact that the Group’s trade 
receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk. 
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing.

Trade receivables disclosed above include amounts which are past due at the end of the reporting period for 
which the Group has not recognised an allowance for doubtful receivables because there was no significant 
change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral 
or other credit enhancements over these balances nor does it have a legal right of offset against any amounts 
owed by the Group to the counterparty.
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17. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Aging of trade receivables that are past due but not impaired.

As at As at
31 March 2017 31 March 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Overdue by:
0 to 30 days 563 1,082
31 to 60 days 629 998
61 to 90 days – 681
91 to 180 days 91 192
Over 180 days 503 347

  

1,786 3,300
  

Receivables that were past due but not impaired related to a number of independent customers that have a 
good track record with the Group. Based on past experience, management believes that no impairment 
allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as there was no significant change in credit quality and the 
balances are still considered fully recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
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18. AMOUNT DUE FROM A RELATED COMPANY

As at As at
31 March 2017 31 March 2016

Name of related companies HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Mobile Computer Land Limited (Note (ii)) 75 136
  

75 136
  

The maximum amount due from a related party outstanding during the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016 
are as follows:

2017 2016
Name of related companies HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Progress International Holdings Limited (Note (i)) – 64
  

Mobile Computer Land Limited (Note (ii)) 724 177
  

Notes:

(i) Mr. Lo Yan Yee and Madam Cheng are the directors of the Company who also have controlling interest in the above company.

(ii) Mr. Lo Ding Kwong, is the son of Madam Cheng and the shareholder of Mobile Computer Land Limited.

The amount due from a related company is unsecured, interest free and recoverable on demand.
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19. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

As at As at
31 March 2017 31 March 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Deposits paid and prepayments to suppliers (Note (a)) 182 1,105
Other deposits paid and prepayments 3,718 4,581
Other receivables – 1

  

3,900 5,687
  

Note:

(a) The amount was mainly related to guarantees paid to against other raw materials suppliers to secure a stable supply raw material or 

requested by such suppliers.

20. PLEDGED TIME DEPOSITS/CASH AND BANK BALANCE

As at As at
31 March 2017 31 March 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Cash and bank balances 4,617 9,718
Pledged time deposits 2,010 2,003
Bank overdrafts (988) –

  

5,639 11,721
  

As at 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016, cash in hand and at bank comprise of following currencies:

As at As at
31 March 2017 31 March 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

HKD 1,461 7,348
USD 2,604 1,828
RMB 491 481
Other 61 61

  

4,617 9,718
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20. PLEDGED TIME DEPOSITS/CASH AND BANK BALANCE (Continued)
Cash in hand and at bank compose:
In the cash and bank balances at the year ended 31 March 2017 and 2016 mainly include amounts of 
approximately RMB432,000 and RMB402,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$491,000 and HK$481,000 
respectively) which were not freely convertible into other currencies. However, under Mainland China’s Foreign 
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange 
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB into other currencies through bank authorisation to 
conduct foreign exchange business.

Pledged time deposits:
As at 31 March 2017, time deposits are made for varying periods of between one day and three months 
depending cash requirements of the Group and carrying fixed interest rate of 0.29% (2016: 0.29%) per annum 
of approximately HK$2,010,000 (2016: HK$2,003,000) was pledged as collateral for bank facility of the 
Company.

Bank overdrafts:
The Group’s overdrafts facilities accounting to HK$2,000,000 (2016: HK$2,000,000), of which HK$988,000 
(2016: none) has been utilised at the end of the reporting period, are secured by the pledge of the Group’s time 
deposits amounting to HK$2,010,000 (2016: HK$2,003,000).

21. TRADE PAYABLES
Details of the aging analysis are as follows:

As at As at
31 March 2017 31 March 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Within 30 days 1,600 1,834
31 to 60 days 804 493
61 to 90 days 241 216
91 to 180 days 50 52
Over 180 days 71 59

  

2,766 2,654
  

The average credit period on purchase of certain goods is generally within 30 days to 90 days.

22. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

As at As at
31 March 2017 31 March 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Accruals and other payables 3,599 3,239
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23. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2017 and 2016 are set out as below:

Name of Subsidiaries

Place/Principal 

Place of 

Operation and 

date of 

incorporation

Paid-up 

capital or 

registered 

capital

Percentage of equity and voting 

power attributable to the Company

Principal 

activities

Type of 

legal entity

Direct Indirect

2017 2016 2017 2016
         

Echo Asia 

 (Hong Kong) 

 Limited

Hong Kong, 

 30 June 2015

HK$10,000 100% – – – Investment 

 holding

Limited liability 

 company

Gold Treasure Hung 

 Group Limited

BVI,

 6 December 2010

US$10,000 100% 100% – – Investment 

 holding

Limited liability 

 company

Echo Electronics

 Company Limited

Hong Kong, 

 24 December 2003

HK$10,000 – – 100% 100% Trading of 

 electronic 

 products and 

 accessories

Limited liability 

 company

Yi Gao Tech 

 Electronics (Shenzhen) 

 Co., Ltd.

The PRC,

 26 May 2011

HK$4,000,000 – – 100% 100% Manufacture of 

 electronic 

 products and 

 accessories

Limited liability 

 company

Echo International 

 Development 

 Limited

Hong Kong, 

 2 April 2014

HK$10,000 – – 100% 100% Dormant Limited liability 

 company
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24. BORROWINGS

As at As at
31 March 2017 31 March 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Debenture — due within one year 8,000 10,000
  

An analysis of the carrying amounts of the total borrowings by the type is as follows:

As at As at
31 March 2017 31 March 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

At fixed rate 8,000 10,000
  

The contractual interest rates per annum in respect of borrowings were as follows:

As at As at
31 March 2017 31 March 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Debenture 14.4% 12%
  

The fair values of the short-term borrowings approximate their carrying amounts.

On 7 September 2015, debenture with total principal amount of HK$10,000,000 bearing fixed interest rate at 
12% per annum (the “Debenture 2016”) was issued by the Company, the maturity date of the Debenture 
2016 was 6 September 2016. The Company repaid the Debenture 2016 on 6 September 2016.

On 1 September 2016, the Company issued debenture with total principal amount of HK$8,000,000 bearing 
fixed interest rate at 14.4% per annum (the “Debenture 2017”), the maturity date of the Debenture 2017 was 
28 February 2017. On 1 March 2017, the mature date of the Debenture 2017 was further extended to 31 
August 2017.
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25. OBLIGATION UNDER FINANCE LEASES
The Group leased the motor vehicles under finance lease. Interest rates underlying all obligations under finance 
leases are fixed at respective contract rates at 1.85% (2016:1.85%) per annum for the years ended 31 March 
2017 and 2016 respectively.

As at As at
31 March 2017 31 March 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Minimum lease payments under finance leases
— within one year 128 128
— in more than one year but not more than five years 117 245

  

245 373
Less: future finance charges (21) (32)

  

Present value of finance lease 224 341
  

As at As at
31 March 2017 31 March 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Present value of minimum lease payments under finance leases
— within one year 117 117
— in more than one year but not more than five years 107 224

  

224 341
Less: amount due within one year shown under current liabilities (117) (117)

  

107 224
  

The Group’s obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased assets, which have a 
carrying amount of HK$41,000 and HK$207,000 as at 31 March 2017 and 2016 respectively (Note 15).
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26. SHARE CAPITAL

Number Nominal
Par value of shares value

HK$ ’000 HK$’000
    

Authorised:
As at 1 April 2015 0.01 1,000,000 10,000
Share subdivision (Note) – 3,000,000 –

  

As at 31 March 2016, 1 April 2016
 and 31 March 2017 0.0025 4,000,000 10,000

  

Issued and fully paid:
As at 1 April 2015 0.01 200,000 2,000
Share subdivision (Note) – 600,000 –

  

As at 31 March 2016, 1 April 2016
 and 31 March 2017 0.0025 800,000 2,000

  

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to 
one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally regarding the Company’s 
residual assets.

Note: On 15 July 2015, the Company implemented share subdivision on the basis that every 1 issued and unissued share of each was divided 

to 4 shares of HK$0.0025 each.
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27. PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME/SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company has conditionally adopted the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the Share Option Scheme on 27 
September 2013.

As at the date of 30 September 2013, options to subscribe for 20,000,000 shares under the Pre-IPO Share 
Option Scheme have been granted to the Directors except for the independent non-executive Directors.

The Company has also conditionally adopted the Share Option Scheme. No option has been granted under the 
Share Option Scheme. The Share Option Scheme will be valid and effective for a period of ten years 
commencing from the date of adoption, after which period no further options will be offered or granted but 
the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect in all other respects with respect 
to options granted during the life of the Share Option Scheme.

The Eligible Persons of the Share Option Scheme include directors, consultants or advisers and any other person 
has contributed to the Group (the “Eligible Persons”). The subscription price of the share options shall be a 
price determined by the board of directors and shall be at least the highest of (i) the closing price per share as 
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the offer date; (ii) the average of the closing prices per 
share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days immediately preceding 
the offer date; or (iii) the nominal value of the share.

An offer shall remain open for acceptance by the Eligible Persons concerned for such period as determined by 
the board of directors, being a date not later than ten business days after the offer date by which the Eligible 
Persons must accept the offer or be deemed to have declined it, provided that no such offer shall be open for 
acceptance after the tenth anniversary of the date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme or after the Share 
Option Scheme has been terminated in accordance with the provisions of the Share Option Scheme.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share 
Option Scheme and any other Share Option Schemes shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of 
shares in issue as at the date of approval of the Share Option Scheme. The Company may grant options to 
specified participant(s) beyond the 10% limit provided that the options granted in excess of such limit are 
specifically approved by the shareholders in general meeting and the participants are specifically identified by 
the Company before such approval is sought. In seeking such approval, a circular must be sent to the 
shareholders containing the required details in accordance with Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme 
together with any options outstanding and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other 
share option schemes of our Company in issue shall not exceed 30% (or such higher percentage as may be 
allowed under the GEM Listing Rules) of the total number of shares in issue from time to time.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted to each Eligible Persons 
(including both exercised and outstanding options under the Share Option Scheme) in any twelve-month period 
must not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company. Where any further grant of options to an 
Eligible Persons would result in excess of such limit shall be subject to the approval of the shareholders at 
general meeting with such Eligible Persons and his associates abstaining from voting.
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27. PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME/SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
To quantify the effect of the options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, the Company has 
engaged an independent external valuer, Roma Appraisals Limited (“Roma”) to compute the fair value of the 
granted options.

The fair value of the options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Options Scheme is determined using Black-Scholes 
option pricing model. Where relevant, the expected life used in the model has been adjusted based on the 
Directors’ best estimate for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions (including the probability of 
meeting market conditions attached to the option), and behavior consideration. Expected volatility is based on 
the average historical volatilities of the comparable over the expected option periods of 6.5 years. Risk free rate 
is based on the period average yields of the Exchange Fund Notes of comparable terms issued by the Hong 
Kong Monetary assumptions.

The variables and assumptions used in computation of the fair value of Pre-IPO Share Options Scheme are based 
on the Directors’ best estimate. The value of an option varies with different variables of certain objective 
assumption.

Inputs into the valuation model

Grant date share price HK$0.555
Exercise price HK$0.150
Expected volatility 54.806%
Expected option period 6.542 years
Risk free rate 1.53%
Expected dividend yield 0.00%

Movements in the share options granted to the former directors, directors, employees of the Company and 
other eligible participants during the year were as follows:

Date of grant

Exercise

price

Number of

share

outstanding

31 March 2015

Effect of

share

subdivision

Number of

share

outstanding

31 March 2016

Number of

share

outstanding

31 March 2017

HK$ ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000

(Note) (Note)
       

Director 27 September 2013 0.15 14,400 43,200 57,600 57,600

Employee 27 September 2013 0.15 5,600 16,800 22,400 22,400     

– 20,000 60,000 80,000 80,000
     

Note: The exercise price and number of share option have been adjusted for the effect of share subdivision took place on 15 July 2015.
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27. PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME/SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
Details of specific categories of options are as follows:

Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period Exercise price
    

September 2013 11 October 2013 – 11 October 2016 – HK$0.15
 10 October 2016  11 October 2023

During the year ended 31 March 2013, 20,000,000 share options were granted. The options outstanding at the 
year ended 31 March 2017 have a weighted average remaining contractual life of 6.53 years (2016: 7.53 years).

During the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016, no share option was granted, exercised, expired or lapsed.

28. RESERVES
The movement of reserves of the Group during the year was shown in the consolidated statement of changes in 
equity on page 43.

(a) Contribution reserve
Pursuant to the deed of mutual set-off dated 27 September 2013 entered into between Madam Cheng 
(an executive director, the controlling shareholder and a founder of the Company) and the Company, 
Madam Cheng agreed to bear the expenses incurred by the Company in connection with the listing to the 
extent of HK$5.77 million by setting off against the debt of the Company owing to Madam Cheng. 
According to Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2010 and Hong Kong Accounting Standards 
1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements, this represents a transaction between the Company and 
the controlling shareholder, and the amount will be recognised in equity rather than consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income prior to the listing.

(b) Capital reserve
The capital reserve of the Group represents the capital contributions by Madam Cheng, a director and 
controlling shareholder of the Company, to the subsidiaries directly held by Madam Cheng before the 
reorganisation. The additions during the year represent the injection of additional paid-up capital by the 
equity holders of the subsidiaries to the respective companies by the owners of the subsidiaries, which 
were consolidated from the effective date of acquisition.

(c) Exchange reserve
The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the 
financial statements of operations outside Hong Kong.
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29. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group manages its capital to ensure that the entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going 
concern while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. 
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged during the year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank overdrafts, bank borrowings, obligation under finance leases 
and equity attributable to owners of the Company (comprising issued share capital and reserves).

The directors of the Company review the capital structure regularly. As part of this review, the directors consider 
the cost and the risks associated with each class of the capital. Based on the recommendations of the directors, 
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends and new share issues as 
well as raising and repayment of bank borrowings.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Categories of financial instruments

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Financial assets
Amortised costs
Loan and receivables (including cash and bank balances)
 — Trade receivables 4,696 7,433
 — Amount due from a related company 75 136
 — Other receivables – 1
 — Pledged time deposits 2,010 2,003
 — Cash and bank balances 4,617 9,718

  

Financial liabilities
Amortised costs
 — Trade payables 2,766 2,654
 — Bank overdrafts 988 –
 — Borrowings 8,000 10,000
 — Other payables 6 104
 — Obligation under finance leases 224 341

  

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
The directors of the Company monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the 
Group through internal risks reports which analyses exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. These 
risks include market risk (including currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade receivables, pledged time deposits, trade payables, 
other receivables, other payables, amount due from a related company, cash and bank balances, bank 
overdrafts, bank borrowings, debenture and obligation under finance leases. Details of these financial 
instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments and 
the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. Management manages and monitors these 
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk
In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Company has delegated a team responsible 
for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow- 
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. The Company has set the policies in place to ensure that 
transactions are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, the Company reviews 
the recoverable amount of each individual trade debt and debt investments at the end of each reporting 
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the 
directors of the Company consider that the Company’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across diverse industries and 
geographical areas. Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition of accounts 
receivables.

The credit risk on bank balances is limited because the counter parties are banks with high credit ratings. 
The Group has no significant concentration of credit risks, with exposure spread over a number of counter 
parties.

Fair value measurements
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:

(i) the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions traded 
on active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices; and

(ii) the fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with 
generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The carrying amount of other financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost, approximate their 
respective fair values due to the relatively short-term nature of these financial instruments.

No analysis is disclosed since the Group has no financial instruments that are measured subsequent to 
initial recognition at fair value at the end of the reporting period.

Interest rate risk
The cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to variable-rate borrowings. It is the Company’s policy to 
keep its borrowings at fixed rates of interests so as to minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

The Company has no significant interest-bearing assets except for borrowings and obligation under 
finance leases, details of which have been disclosed in Notes 24 and 25 respectively.

The Company has no significant interest rate risk during the year.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Foreign currency risk
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with 
respect to HK$, United Stated dollars (“USD”) and Renminbi (“RMB”). HK$ is pegged to the USD and the 
foreign exchange exposures between them are considered limited, therefore, the Group is mainly exposed 
to the effects of fluctuation in RMB. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, 
recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign operations. The Group currently does not 
have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the management monitors foreign exchange exposure 
and will consider the need of hedging significant foreign currency exposures.

No sensitivity analysis on foreign currency risk is performed since the Group’s has no material foreign 
currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period.

Liquidity risk
The Group has laid down an appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of 
the short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity management, which is reviewed regularly by the 
Directors. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves and banking facilities, by 
continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and maintains a conservative level of long-term 
funding to finance its short-term financial assets.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial 
liabilities. The tables below have been drawn up based on the contractual maturities of the undiscounted 
financial liabilities including interest that will accrue to those liabilities except where the Group are entitled 
and intends to repay the liability before its maturity.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
As at 31 March 2017

More than More than
Weighted On demand one year but two years Total Total

Average or within not not undiscounted carrying
Interest rate one year two years five years cash flow amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
       

Non-derivative financial 
 liabilities
Bank overdraft 0.75% 995 – – 995 988
Trade payables – 2,766 – – 2,766 2,766
Other payables – 6 – – 6 6
Borrowings 14.40% 8,483 – – 8,483 8,000
Obligation under finance leases 1.85% 128 117 – 245 224

     

12,378 117 – 12,495 11,984
     

As at 31 March 2016

More than More than
Weighted On demand one year but two years Total Total

Average or within not not undiscounted carrying
Interest rate one year two years five years cash flow amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
       

Non-derivative financial 
 liabilities
Trade payables – 2,654 – – 2,654 2,654
Other payables – 104 – – 104 104
Borrowings 12.00% 10,677 – – 10,677 10,000
Obligation under finance leases 1.85% 128 128 117 373 341

     

13,563 128 117 13,808 13,099
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31. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the end of the reporting period is as 
follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries – 109

  

Current assets
Amount due from subsidiaries 22,148 22,100
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 111 107
Pledged time deposits 2,010 2,003
Cash and bank balance 16 6,791

  

24,285 31,001
  

Current liabilities
Amounts due to subsidiaries 934 934
Accruals 1,178 677
Borrowings 8,000 10,000
Bank overdrafts 988 –

  

11,100 11,611
  

Net current assets 13,185 19,390
  

Net assets 13,185 19,499
  

Capital and reserves
Share capital 2,000 2,000
Reserves (Note) 11,185 17,499

  

Total equity 13,185 19,499
  

Approved by the Board of Directors on 21 June 2017 and signed on its behalf by:

Lo, Yan Yee Cheng, Yeuk Hung
Executive Director Executive Director
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31. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY 
(Continued)
Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserve is as follows:

Share Contribution Share option Accumulated

Premium reserve reserve loss Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note 28(a))
      

As at 31 March 2015 and 1 April 2015 28,840 4,836 2,839 (14,377) 22,138

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – – (6,569) (6,569)

Share based payment – – 1,930 – 1,930
     

As at 31 March 2016 And 1 April 2016 28,840 4,836 4,769 (20,946) 17,499

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – – (7,339) (7,339)

Share based payment – – 1,025 – 1,025
     

As at 31 March 2017 28,840 4,836 5,794 (28,285) 11,185
     

As at 31 March 2017, the Company’s reserves available for distribution, calculated in accordance with the 
Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, amounted to 
approximately HK$5,391,000 (2016: HK$12,730,000). The amount represents the net of Company’s 
contribution reserve, share premium, and accumulated losses, which may be distributable provided that 
immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a 
position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
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32. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group had entered into transactions with related 
parties which, in the opinion of the directors, were carried out on normal commercial terms and in the ordinary 
course of the Group’s business, as shown below:

(a) Significant related party transactions
Particulars of significant related party transactions during the year, the Group entered into the following 
transactions with related parties:

Nature of related party transactions

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Rental paid to Progress International
 Holdings Limited (note (i)) – 256

Salary paid to Mr. Lo Ding Kwong (Note (ii)) – 465

Sales to Mobile Computer Land Limited (Note (iii)) 1,016 385

Rental paid to Mobile Computer Land Limited (Note (iii)) 480 200

Sundry expenses paid to Mobile Computer Land Limited (Note (iii)) – 7

Consultancy fee paid to Vashion Assets Management Limited
 (Note (iv)) 1,200 1,200

  

Notes:

(i) Its shareholders and directors are Mr. Lo Yan Yee and Madam Cheng. In the opinion of the Directors, the above transaction is 

entered into the term agreed by the Company with reference to the terms for the similar transactions in the market carried out 

in the ordinary course of the Group’s business.

(ii) Mr. Lo Ding Kwong is the son of Madam Cheng.

(iii) Its major shareholder is Mr. Lo Ding Kwong, who is the son of Madam Cheng.

(iv) Its director is Ms. Zhou Jia Lin.

For the transactions constitutes continuing connected transactions under the GEM Listing Rules, please 
refer to “Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected Transactions” under “Report of Directors”.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2017

Annual Report 2017 102

32. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(b) Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key personnel management, including amount paid to the Company’s directors and 
certain of the highest paid employees, as disclosed in Notes 13 and 14 respectively to the consolidated 
financial statements, is as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Salaries and allowances (including directors’ fee) 5,580 4,670
Retirement scheme contribution 121 109
Share based payment expenses 1,025 1,930

  

6,726 6,709
  

33. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
The Group as leasee
The Group leases its office properties and factory under operating lease arrangements. Leases for the properties 
are negotiated for terms of two years.

At the end of reporting period, the Group had total future minimum lease payables under non-cancellable 
operating leases falling due as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Within one year 1,040 3,548
In the second to fifth years inclusive – 1,084

  

1,040 4,632
  

34. CAPITAL COMMITMENT
The Group and the Company did not have any significant capital commitments as at 31 March 2017 and 2016.

35. SUBSEQUENT EVENT
Besides elsewhere in financial statement and change of use of proceeds as stated on page 8, the Group did not 
have other material subsequent event.

36. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 21 
June 2017.
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A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted 
from the published audited financial statements and the Prospectus, is set out below:

For the year ended 31 March
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

Results

Revenue 41,657 58,345 51,807 51,328 71,707
     

(Loss)/profit before taxation (13,993) (13,880) (12,631) (8,150) 12,687
Taxation – 141 – (571) (3,337)

     

(Loss)/profit for the year (13,993) (13,739) (12,631) (8,721) 9,350
     

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company (13,993) (13,739) (12,631) (8,721) 9,350

     

As at 31 March
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

Assets and liabilities

Total assets 29,462 44,383 49,811 56,879 39,818
Total liabilities (16,277) (17,169) (9,885) (6,389) (17,384)

     

13,185 27,214 39,926 50,490 22,434
     

Total equity 13,185 27,214 39,926 50,490 22,434
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